DISSERTATIONES GEOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 48

KARIN TRUUVER

Ostracod associations of the Ordovician–Silurian boundary interval in Baltoscandia





DISSERTATIONES GEOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

48

DISSERTATIONES GEOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

48

KARIN TRUUVER

Ostracod associations of the Ordovician–Silurian boundary interval in Baltoscandia



Department of Geology, Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia.

This thesis was accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Geology at the University of Tartu on March 8th, 2021 by the Scientific Council of the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu.

Supervisors:	Prof. Tõnu Meidla and Dr. Oive Tinn,
	Department of Geology, University of Tartu, Estonia

Opponent: Dr. Jean Vannier, Centre national de la recherche scientifique, Laboratoire de Geol University Claude Bernard Lyon 1, France

The thesis will be defended at the University of Tartu, Estonia, Ravila 14A, room 1019, on the May 20th, 2021 at 12.15.

Publication of this thesis is granted by the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu.

ISSN 1406–2658 ISBN 978-9949-03-588-5 (print) ISBN 978-9949-03-589-2 (pdf)

Copyright: Karin Truuver, 2021

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
BACKGROUND Geological setting The uppermost Ordovician stable carbon isotope geochemistry Early Palaeozoic ostracods and their subordinal classification Suborders of the order Beyrichiocopa Suborders of the order Podocopa	11 11 14 15 16 18
MATERIAL AND METHODS Geological sections investigated in the course of the study Laboratory preparation of material and study methods Statistical analyses of ostracod associations	19 19 20 21
RESULTS Late Ordovician–basal Silurian ostracod associations in the BPB Hirnantian in North Estonia Hirnantian in South Estonia Hirnantian in Latvia Hirnantian in Lithuania Hirnantian in North and North–East Poland Hirnantian in Sweden	23 24 31 31 32 32 33 34
DISCUSSION	36
CONCLUSIONS	40 43
REFERENCES	44
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	51
PUBLICATIONS	55
CURRICULUM VITAE	126
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	128

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I. Truuver, K., Meidla, T., Ainsaar, L., Bergström J. and Tinn, O. 2013. Stratigraphy of the Ordovician–Silurian boundary interval in Östergötland, Sweden, based on ostracod distribution and stable carbon isotopic data. GFF, 134(4), 295–308, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/11035897.2012.762550
- II. Truuver, K. and Meidla, T. 2015. A Hirnantian deep-water refuge for warm-water ostracods in Baltoscandia. Geological Quarterly, 59(4), 738– 749, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.7306/gq.1258
- III. Truuver, K., Meidla, T. and Tinn, O. 2021. End-Ordovician ostracod faunal dynamics in the Baltic Palaeobasin. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 2021, 70(1), 51–69, DOI: https://doi.org/10.3176/earth.2021.02
- IV. Meidla, T., Truuver, K., Tinn, O., Ainsaar, L., 2020. Ostracods of the Ordovician-Silurian boundary beds: Jurmala core (Latvia) and its implications for Baltic stratigraphy. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 2020, 69(4), 233–247, DOI: https://doi.org/10.3176/earth.2020.20

Author's contribution:

- **Paper I**: The author analysed the ostracod material (identification, SEM photography and image processing), prepared samples for δ^{13} C analysis and was responsible for data interpretation and writing the manuscript.
- **Paper II:** The author analysed the ostracod material (identification, SEM photography and image processing) and was responsible for ostracod and $\delta^{13}C$ data interpretation and writing the manuscript.
- **Paper III:** The author was responsible for data interpretation and writing the manuscript.
- **Paper IV:** The author was responsible for ostracod data interpretation and for complementing the manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

BC	Baltic Carbon
BPB	Baltic Palaeobasin (in Estonian: Balti Paleobassein)
DCA	Detrended correspondence analysis
E	Eastern
FAD	first appearance datum
Fm.	Formation
HB	Geographically widely distributed stratigraphic gap in the upper-
	most Ordovician
HICE	Hirnantian isotopic carbon excursion
LAD	last appearance datum
Ν	Northern
O–S boundary	Ordovician–Silurian boundary
RS	Regional Stage
S	Southern
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
UPGMA	Unweighted pair group method of linkage
W	Western
$\delta^{13}C$	Stable carbon isotopic signature, ratio of ¹³ C/ ¹² C (parts per
	thousand)

INTRODUCTION

The Ordovician Period ended with a glaciation event when large glaciers formed on the Gondwana Supercontinent covering large areas on the Southern Hemisphere. The exact beginning and duration of the glaciation and dynamics of the climate change are both subjects of heated discussion. Brenchley *et al.* (1994) suggested that the glaciation was abrupt and short, lasting about 0.5–1 Ma, and Hallam and Wignall (1997) and Finnegan *et al.* (2011) also support that idea. A number of more recent papers (e.g. Kaljo *et al.*, 2003; Saltzman and Young, 2005; Buggisch, *et al.*, 2010; Rosenau *et al.*, 2012; Sell *et al.*, 2013) suggest that the cooling may have started earlier, around the Sandbian-Katian boundary. Some authors place the beginning of cooling already in the late Early Ordovician (Trotter *et al.*, 2008; Vandenbroucke *et al.*, 2010; Turner *et al.*, 2011).

There has been much debate about what exactly triggered the end-Ordovician cooling. Several explanations have been proposed, e.g. the "classical" organic burial hypothesis (Marshall and Middleton 1990; Brenchley *et al.*, 1994) and the silicate weathering hypothesis (Kump *et al.* 1999). Lenton *et al.* (2012) and Morris *et al.* (2018) suggest that the glaciation was related to the appearance and radiation of the first land plants, whilst Buggisch *et al.* (2010) place the blame on the Deicke volcanic eruption. Still, the true mechanism is yet to be determined.

The end-Ordovician glaciation was accompanied by a prominent extinction event, but its timing and causes are not clear yet and need further investigation. According to the most accepted opinion, the extinction was a sudden event that started at the beginning of the Hirnantian Age. However, some studies (e.g. Kaljo *et al.*, 2008) have shown that it might not have been a very abrupt event but a longer process starting already in the mid-Katian.

Different reasons have been proposed for the extinction. Wilde and Berry (1984) and Marshall and Middleton (1990) place the blame on nutrient-rich but noxious water currents which came from the polar regions and caused an algal bloom and the following rapid eradication of organic matter. A sea level drop intensified organic carbon burial in deep-sea sediments, releasing more and more phosphorus, which in turn increased productivity (Hammarlund et al., 2012). These processes led to severe anoxia by the first half of the Hirnantian Age. Hammarlund et al. (2012) also suggest that euxinic conditions prevailed during most of the Hirnantian Age, although the early Hirnantian oceans were seemingly oxygenated. Finnegan et al. (2011) linked the mass extinction directly to the Hirnantian glaciation. Rasmussen and Harper (2011) admit the role of climate change in the extinction but place the major blame on the tectonics, namely the closing of the Iapetus Ocean and related loss of marginal-marine habitats suggesting that the glaciation-related sea-level drop only reinforced these conditions. Jones et al. (2017) support the hypothesis of volcanic trigger to the extinction but suggest it was the large igneous provinces volcanism that was directly responsible for the climatic changes leading to mass extinctions. Vandenbroucke et al. (2015) show that the major Palaeozoic extinctions either coincided or were directly preceded by an exceptional rise in the amount of dissolved metals in the ocean. They link the increased metal content in seawater with malformations of plankton and suggest it to be at least a precursor of major palaeobiological catastrophes in the Ordovician and Silurian. Long *et al.* (2015) add another cofactor to the long list of the possible extinction inducers, a prolonged (estimatedly ~10 Ma) period of selenium depletion in the ocean. Selenium is a vital element for all animals and most of the plants. Crustal weathering (which is the main source of Se) is reduced during times of low oxygen. That leads to less Se being carried (e.g. by rivers) to the ocean, causing Se-deficiency. Long *et al.* (2015) show strong oceanic Se depletion prior to end-Ordovician, end-Devonian and end-Triassic extinctions. Harper *et al.* (2014) conclude that the aforementioned factors probably acted together to create such long-lasting and heterogenous extinction event.

Due to their high sensitivity to environmental changes, ostracods were one of the animal groups most affected by this event (Boomer *et al.*, 2003; Tinn *et al.*, 2006; Smith and Delorme, 2010; Rodriguez-Lazaro, J. and Ruiz-Muńoz, F., 2012). Meidla (1996a) compiled a thorough study about the composition and dynamics of the Upper Ordovician ostracod associations of Estonia. The study area was restricted to Estonia as the coeval ostracod data were poor or lacking in several parts of the Baltic Palaeobasin (BPB) (W Lithuania, S Sweden, N Poland).

Carbon stable isotopic (δ^{13} C) analysis is often used in palaeoenvironmental studies and was included also in this study as an additional correlation proxy for clarifying the distribution of ostracod associations in the Baltoscandian area. The δ^{13} C of marine dissolved inorganic carbon is associated with carbon circulation in ocean water. A positive excursion of δ^{13} C reflects intensified carbon removal from seawater and atmosphere, causing the drawdown of atmospheric CO₂, which in turn creates favourable conditions for onset of glaciation (e.g. Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010). The development of the glaciation and the respective regression are reflected in the Upper Ordovician δ^{13} C values in the BPB as a significant positive shift during the first half of the Hirnantian Age, followed by a gradual decline (e.g. LaPorte *et al.*, 2009; Ainsaar *et al.*, 2015; Wang *et al.*, 2019).

Ainsaar *et al.* (2010) compiled a chemostratigraphic subdivision of the Middle and Upper Ordovician carbonate strata of Baltoscandia consisting of 17 chemostratigraphic zones based on distinctive intervals of the δ^{13} C curve (BC1– BC17, "BC"="Baltic Carbon"). The time-span addressed by this study spans the isotopic zones BC13–BC17 and further up. In N Estonia, BC14 and BC15 are often absent because of the pre-Hirnantian sedimentary gap in this area (Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010); BC16 marks a steep rise in the carbon isotopic values and the beginning of the Hirnantian stable carbon isotopic excursion (HICE). The zone BC16 can be identified in the Taagepera (Brenchley *et al.*, 2003) and Valga-10 and Ruhnu (Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010) sections in S Estonia, in the Riekstini (Brenchley *et al.*, 2003) and Jurmala R-1 (Ainsaar *et al.*, 2004) sections in Latvia and S Swedish Borenshult (Bergström *et al.*, 2012) drill core where isotopic data were available. The zone BC17 corresponds to the slowly lowering carbon isotopic values on the background of decline of glaciers (Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010). This zone is mostly missing in Estonia. It has been described only in the Valga-10 section in S Estonia (stratigraphically one of the most complete sections in Estonia) and could also be assumed to be partly present in the Taagepera and Tartu-453 sections, as well as in the Jurmala R-1 section in the Livonian Basin.

No comprehensive studies on the ostracod associations of the Ordovician– Silurian transition in the BPB area have been conducted during the last two decades. It is also unknown how changes in the ostracod associations correlate with the changes in δ^{13} C values during the latest Ordovician ecological crisis. These questions and significant changes in the stratigraphy of the Baltoscandian area introduced over the last decade necessitated an extensive study of ostracod associations of the Ordovician–Silurian boundary interval in the ancient BPB.

The specific objectives of this research were:

- Determining the composition of the ostracod associations in the ancient BPB and their geographical range during the time interval from the late Katian up to the earliest Silurian.
- Testing the hypothesis on the earlier start and extended duration of the Hirnantian extinction on ostracods of the BPB.
- Complementing the Hirnantian stratigraphy in Lithuania, S Sweden and N Poland.
- Specifying the relationship between the dynamics of $\delta^{13}C$ and changes in ostracod associations in the BPB during the period from the late Katian up to the earliest Silurian.
- Confirming the need for repositioning the Ordovician–Silurian boundary upwards in the Baltoscandian area.

This study aims at testing the following hypotheses:

- the evidence of an earlier (pre-Hirnantian) extinction of the ostracod fauna in the BPB is recorded as a distinct diversity decline that can be distinguished from the sampling bias.
- Principal changes in the composition of ostracod associations were caused by the global ecological crisis in the latest Ordovician and are tied to the specific levels in the $\delta 13C$ record (and to the specific carbon stable isotopic zones).
- The appearance level of the Hirnantian cold-water ostracod fauna can be used as a characteristic stratigraphic marker in regional biostratigraphy.
- More than one distinct association can be distinguished within the Hirnantian ostracod fauna.
- The distinctive Hirnantian cold-water ostracod fauna can be considered a part of the Hirnantian fauna *sensu lato*.

BACKGROUND

Geological setting

In the Late Ordovician, the Baltoscandian area was part of the Baltica Palaeocontinent situated in the southern hemisphere in a close vicinity of the Equator (Fig 6.2b in Torsvik and Cocks, 2017). In the north and east, the continent was surrounded by the Palaeo-Tethys Ocean. In the west, the Iapetus Ocean separated Baltica from the Laurentia Palaeocontinent. The Avalonia Microcontinent was approaching Baltica from the south, causing slow closure of the Tornquist Sea and the related volcanic activity. The Baltoscandian area was situated in the south-western part of the palaeocontinent and was covered with an epicontinental sea deepening in the south-westerly direction. The present N Estonia and E Lithuania comprised the shallowest part of the palaeobasin (Fig. 1; Fig. 2 in Kaljo *et al.*, 2011), being separated by the Livonian Basin – a north-easterly extension of the deeper-water Scandinavian Basin comprising S Estonia, W Latvia, W Lithuania, SE Sweden and northern and north-eastern areas of Poland (Harris *et al.*, 2004; Paper III).



Figure 1. Map of the study area and the sections used in this study. S-M, Seli-Metsküla; S-R, Seli-Russalu.

The end-Ordovician world was climatically one of the harshest and most unstable places to live due to the end-Ordovician climate event – the Hirnantian glaciation. It has received an increasing amount of attention over the last couple of decades because of its possible causes but a consensus has not been reached yet. According to the organic burial hypothesis (Marshall and Middleton, 1990; Brenchley et al., 1994), the position of the continents favoured the accumulation of snow and ice in the polar regions. Intensified ocean circulation moved cold, nutrient-rich currents from polar regions into the warmer waters close to the Equator, increasing productivity and accelerating carbon burial. Reduction of dissolved pCO_2 in seawater in turn lowered the atmospheric pCO_2 to levels sufficient for accelerated ice cap formation. Kump et al. (1999) introduced the silicate weathering hypothesis according to which the Taconic orogeny that started in the late-middle Ordovician intensified silicate terraine exposure and weathering, lowering marine and atmospheric CO₂ levels enough for the ice caps to form. The proceeding ice albedo effect further supported the glacier formation. Lenton et al. (2012) and Morris et al. (2018) suggested that the appearance and radiation of the first land plants increased the weathering of silicate rocks, causing a drawdown of atmospheric CO₂. This was yet reinforced by phosphorus weathering and influx from land to oceans where it enhanced production and organic carbon burial (Lenton et al., 2012). According to Buggisch et al. (2010), cooling started after the biggest single volcanic eruption in the Phanerozoic - the Deicke eruption in the late Sandbian. Herrmann et al. (2011), Rosenau et al. (2012) and Sell *et al.* (2013) disagree with that opinion, relying on δ^{13} O (Herrmann et al., 2011; Rosenau et al., 2012), U-Pb analyses and interpretation of more detailed datasets (Sell et al., 2013).

The glaciation-related changes are well documented in the sections of the BPB. The sections used in this study vary in both stratigraphic extent and contiguity.

Bioclastic limestones and dolomites with numerous discontinuity surfaces dominate the Adila Formation in the Estonian Shelf area (Hints and Meidla, 1997a). The Halliku Fm. in the "transitional area" between the Estonian Shelf and Livonian Basin in Central Estonia consists of highly argillaceous limestones and marls (Hints and Meidla, 1997a). The Adila Fm. is overlain by a succession of dolomites, reef limestones and sandy or oolitic limestones designated as the Ärina Fm. These sections are lacking in most of the Hirnantian and the O–S boundary strata and the reef limestones of the Ärina Fm. (Hints and Meidla, 1997b) are overlain by nodular biomicritic limestones with thin marlstone intercalations, the Varbola Fm. (Nestor, 1997).

Within the Livonian Basin, the pre-glacial Jonstorp Fm. (S Sweden) and the Jelgava Fm. (S and W Latvia, W Lithuania; Ainsaar *et al.*, 2015; Paper III) are characterized by brownish-red or grey argillaceous limestones, dolomites and mudstones (Hints and Meidla, 1997a; Brenchley *et al.*, 2003; Paper III) which are occasionally nodular (e.g. Otepää-2 and Taagepera sections, Meidla 1996b; Fig. 1). In the deeper part of the BPB in N Poland, marls and marly limestones comprise the Sasino Fm. and the lower Prabuty Fm. (Paper II). The Jonstorp and Jelgava

Figure 2. Changes in the δ^{13} C values different parts of the BPB during the The ciation in the section. The pink line and ostracod diversity indices in Diversity indices were calculated for sections where sufficient quantitative harparum ostracod figures mark the FAD of the first typical representatives marks the LAD of the chitinozoan Spiappearance of the traditionally called The dark blue dashed line indicates the position of the principal regional dis-The sections are drawn after Meidla ostracod data were available. Blue H. of the Hirnantian H. harparum assonachitina taugourdeaui in the section. The yellow line indicates the first "Silurian fauna" that is here considered conformity in every lithological log. Tartu 453; Meidla (1996b) – Taage-(2008) – Valga-10; Ainsaar *et al.* (2003) – Riekstini and Paper I (Råssas belonging to the topmost Ordovician. 2010) – Jurmala R-1; Brenchley et al. and Tinn (2008) – Männamaa F-367 bera; Meidla (2001) and Kaljo et al Meidla (1998) and Bauert et al. (2014) ate Katian-latest Ordovician. näsudden)



formations are overlain by bioclastic limestones and marls of the Kuldiga Fm. and silty and sandy, occasionally oolitic limestones of the Saldus Fm. (Hints and Meidla, 1997b). Many of these sections either contain one or more sedimentational gaps in the Kuldiga and Saldus formations (e.g. in the Taagepera, Riekstini (Fig. 2), Paroveja-9 (see Paškevičius, 1972) drill cores). Marls of the Prabuty Fm. in N Poland gradually grade into sandstones in the upper part of the formation, marking the peak regression in the late early Hirnantian (Paper III). In Östergötland (SE Sweden), the Jonstorp Fm. is overlain by the Loka Fm. consisting of a succession of greenish calcareous mudstones (unit A in Bergström and Bergström, 1996), grey to white, sometimes mottled reddish, partly oolitic, calcarenitic fossiliferous limestone with rounded clasts of limestone and mudstone (unit B in Bergström and Bergström, 1996) and greenish mudstone (unit C in Bergström and Bergström, 1996). While the Loka Fm. is at least partly present in the Borenshult and Smedsby Gård core sections (Bergström et al., 2012), its presence in the Råssnäsudden section (assumed by the same authors) seems problematic (Paper I).

Nodular, occasionally argillaceous limestones and carbonaceous marlstones of the Õhne and Stačiunai formations overlie the Saldus Fm. in the Livonian Basin comprising S Estonia, W Latvia and W Lithuania (Nestor, 1997; Fig. 1). In N Poland, micritic limestones of the Pasłék Fm. are directly overlying the sandstones of the Prabuty Fm. (Paper II). In S Sweden, the Loka Fm. is overlain by light to dark grey nodular limestones, calcareous mudstones and a few brownish, calcilutitic to calcarenitic limestones of the Motala Fm.

The uppermost Ordovician stable carbon isotope geochemistry

The late Katian δ^{13} C values are relatively low, mostly ~0–1‰, but start to rise slowly at the very end of the age. A positive shift of δ^{13} C values has been described from carbonates of the latest Ordovician Hirnantian Stage globally (e.g. Finney *et al.*, 1999; Brenchley *et al.*, 2003; Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010, 2015; Mauviel and Desrochers, 2016; Wang *et al.*, 2019). In the BPB, the δ^{13} C values rise to values of up to +6‰ in the lower half of the Kuldiga Fm. (Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010). The sharp rise in δ^{13} C values is followed by a much more gradual decline in the upper half of the Kuldiga Fm. and in the overlying Saldus Fm. (Fig. 2)

Several studies in the Baltoscandian area and Anticosti Island, Canada, have shown that the decline does not stop at the formerly accepted Ordovician–Silurian boundary – the δ^{13} C values keep falling above that level (e.g. Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010; Mauviel and Desrochers, 2016; Paper III). Stratigraphically one of the most complete sections in Baltica, the Jurmala R-1 core, has yielded gradually decreasing δ^{13} C values (around +2‰ and +1‰) right above the current position of the former Ordovician–Silurian boundary (Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010). Due to the lack of the zonal graptolites and presence of a geographically widely distributed stratigraphic gap known as the HB unconformity (Schmitz and Bergström, 2007), the O-S boundary has traditionally been drawn at the lower boundary of the Juuru Stage in Estonia (Bauert et al., 2014; Meidla et al., 2014). Chemostratigraphic data have shown that an upward shift of the Ordovician-Silurian boundary should be considered here (Ainsaar et al., 2010; Männik, 2014; Meidla et al., 2014). On the basis of their high-resolution, detailed $\delta^{13}C$ curve from the W coast of Anticosti Island (Canada) spanning the Ordovician-Silurian boundary, Mauviel and Desrochers (2016) mark that although the $\delta^{13}C$ curve reaches its pre-Hirnantian (+0.5%) values a few meters above the present system boundary, the δ^{13} C values continue descending for >50 m above the O–S boundary, suggesting reconsideration of the position and shifting it higher than its current position also in Canada. Kaljo et al. (2001) and Ainsaar et al. (2010, 2015) show that the basal Silurian δ^{13} C values from various central, W and S Estonian drill cores "fall into the limits of the Porkuni Stage" (Kaljo et al., 2001), reaching up to 2.1‰ and continuing to decline slowly until they reach the pre-Hirnantian values above the traditional Ordovician-Silurian boundary (Fig. 2).

The chemostratigraphic zonation compiled for the Middle and Upper Ordovician carbonate strata by Ainsaar *et al.* (2010) constitutes an independent stratigraphic tool which helps to analyse the chronology of changes in the ostracod associations in BPB.

Early Palaeozoic ostracods and their subordinal classification

Ostracods are tiny crustaceans belonging to the phylum Arthropoda. They have about 0.5–2 mm long calcitic bivalved carapaces which can fossilize easily; soft body remains are rare in Palaeozoic ostracods (Williams *et al.*, 2015).

Ostracods have probably the longest fossil record among all arthropods extending back to the late Tremadocian (Tinn and Meidla, 2004, Meidla *et al.*, 2013, Rodriguez-Lazaro and Ruiz-Muńoz, 2012). Although ostracods were primarily environmental generalists (Williams *et al.*, 2008), they demonstrated environmental differentiation already by the early Middle Ordovician, with low-diversity assemblages inhabiting marginal marine and other stress environments (Meidla *et al.*, 2013). The lower Palaeozoic ostracods were exclusively marine; the first nonmarine species appeared in the Carboniferous only (Smith *et al.*, 2015).

Modern ostracods inhabit all sorts of natural and artificial wet environments from Polar to Equatorial regions. Whilst the first ostracods were endemic, with the first signs of possible cosmopolitanism appearing in the latest Ordovician, there are both cosmopolitan and endemic forms among modern ostracods (Smith *et al.*, 2015).

Suborders of the order Beyrichiocopa

The ostracod classification used in this study is based on Vannier *et al.* (1989) and Meidla (1996b). The descriptions of suborders are based on Meidla *et al.* (2013), Vannier *et al.* (1989), Meidla (1996b) and Olempska (2012).

Palaeocopa (Fig. 3.1) is the most diversified lower Palaeozoic group of ostracods, considered to be characteristic of stable conditions and carbonate environments. Ostracods belonging to this group display sexual dimorphism which mostly is reflected in the variable adventral structures of carapace (velum, histium and alike). The shells of this group are characterized by various shell structures such as lobes, sulci and marginal structures (Vannier *et al.*, 1989). Palaeocopes strongly dominated the BPB up to the Sandbian and started declining from thereon, but they retained their dominance in the BPB associations until the latest Ordovician.

The suborder Binodicopa (Fig. 3.2) comprises species that are characteristic of high-stress and clastic environments. Their carapace has fewer structural features than the shells of palaeocopes. The main sculptural features comprise two lateral nodes, one of which may have a spine or may be divided into three swellings. Some species have a pseudovelum. Sexual dimorphism is expressed in the shell shape, size or outline, rather than in sculptural or admarginal features.

Leiocopa (Fig. 3.3) is a suborder of species that inhabited stable, carbonate environments. The shells are round or slightly elongate and smooth or punctate. Valves are unequal in size, the right valve overlaps the left one and the hinge line is relatively short.

Eridostraca (Fig. 3.4) was a distinctive ostracod group characteristic of stable, carbonate marginal marine environments (Olempska, 2012). A noticeable difference between eridostracans and other ostracod suborders is multilamellar shell, due to very common shell retention that is otherwise very rare in any other Lower Palaeozoic ostracod group. The shells are relatively small (≤ 1.5 mm) and subovate to sub-triangular in lateral view. The umbo often projects above the long and straight hinge line. Some species possess a conspicuous adductorial sulcus in later instars, which is covered with valves of earlier instars. Sexual dimorphism has been suggested in some species, with the supposed males being more elongate than the supposed females.

The suborder Paraparchitocopa (Fig. 3.5) contains species that inhabited carbonate environments. Their shells are small, valves oval and smooth, sometimes with a spine in the centrodorsal part of the valve. Sexual dimorphism may occur.

The epresentatives of Cytherelliformes (Fig. 3.6) are not very common in the studied material. Our data show that they likely preferred carbonate environments. They have small, ventrally slightly convex shell which may have reticulated surface. Dimorphism has been described occurring in the form of broad posterior domiciliary concavity in presumable females.



Figure 3. Compilation of the drawings from Vannier *et al.* (1989) showing the main morphological features of ostracod suborders: 1 – Palaeocopa, 2 – Binodicopa, 3 – Leiocopa, 4 – Eridostraca, 5 – Paraparchitocopa, 6 – Cytherelliformes, 7 – Metacopa, 8 – Cypridocopa. AA – admarginal antrum; AS – adventral sculpture; CG – contact groove; DS – dorsal spine; IL – inner lamella; L1-L4 – lobes 1, 2, 3, 4; LA – lamella; LP – lappet; LV – left valve; MS – marginal surface; MSC – marginal sculpture; N1 – anterior node; N3 – posterior node; NA – nauplioconch; OSR – outer stop-ridge; PA – paleola; PAN – preadductorial node; PDC – posterior domiciliary concavity; PV – pseudovelum; PVL – posteroventral lobe; RV – right valve; S2 – adductorial sulcus; SL – sulcament; STP – stop-peg; UM – umbo; V – velum; VC – ventral concavity; VE – vestibulum; VSR – ventral stop-ridge. Parallel striation marks dimorphic feature; yellow colour marks protruding features; grey colour marks depressions.

Suborders of the order Podocopa

The species of Metacopa (Fig. 3.7) were resilient opportunists who managed to survive both in stable and unstable conditions. Their shells are relatively simple and inequivalved, with the left valve being slightly bigger than the right valve. Dimorphism is unknown in this group.

The shells of Cypridocopa (Fig. 3.8) are usually very small (<0.5 mm) and elongate, often with distinct vestibula. The left valve is a bit larger and overlaps the right valve.

Ostracods reached high diversity and abundance all over the BPB by the beginning of the Late Ordovician. Although the Baltoscandian ostracod associations suffered in several environmental disturbances during the Late Ordovician (e.g. the late mid-Sandbian Kärdla impact event and the Kinnekulle volcanic eruption) (Vannier *et al.*, 1989 and references therein; Suuroja and Suuroja, 2006 and references therein), their diversity rebounded fast, reaching its peak in the early Pirgu age (Meidla, 1996a).

Meidla (1996b) conducted a thorough study on the Upper Ordovician ostracods of Estonia focussing on the taxonomic description of ostracods and composition of the ostracod associations. His observations show that 95% of the Late Ordovician ostracod species in the BPB belong into two orders: Beyrichiocopa (67%) and Podocopa (28%). The most prominent suborders in the BPB were Palaeocopa, Metacopa and Binodicopa (Meidla, 1996b), which were followed by the somewhat less common suborder Leiocopa and minor occurrences of Paraparchitocopa, Cytherelliformes and Cypridocopa (Paper III). During the latest Ordovician, the diversity and subordinal importance of Cytherelliformes grew together with those of Binodicopa (Meidla *et al.*, 2013) and Metacopa (Vannier *et al.*, 1989). Binodicopes, which are characteristic of unstable, clastic environments, were overpowered by more dominant palaeocopes and metacopes until the very end of the era when they for the first time attained strong dominance over all other ostracod groups, due to the Hirnantian glaciation (Meidla, 1996b).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Geological sections investigated in the course of the study

The ostracod material used in this study derives mostly from drill cores, in some cases also from outcrops. The study area covers two facies belts, the shallower Estonian Shelf and deeper Livonian and Scandinavian basins. The Estonian Shelf is represented by six outcrops and five drill cores, the Scandinavian Basin by 11 drill cores, one outcrop and regional overviews of the ostracod distribution in NE and E Poland (Sztejn, 1985, 1989, respectively) (Fig. 1). One of the aims of this study was to complement the data set with new sections from poorly studied areas and extend the previous knowledge on the distribution of biofacies within the BPB.

The Hirnantian Stage has been described in several sections in S Sweden Östergötland, Västergötland, Scania and the Siljan District (Bergström and Bergström, 1996; Koren et al., 2003; Meidla, 2007; Bergström et al., 2011 a, b; Bergström et al., 2012; Bergström et al. 2013; Paper I) but most of these studies do include ostracod data. The specific Hirnantian Harpabollia harparum ostracod association was described by Meidla (2007) in the material from the Borenshult locality (SE Sweden), obtained from the remaining loose blocks after the end of construction works for sluice to Göta Canal (SE Sweden). The association was found cooccurring on the same rockslabs with abundant other fossil taxa typical of the Hirnantian globally, such as Stegerhynchus eoborealis Rong, Jin, Zhan et Bergström (2008), Dalmanella testudinaria (Dalman, 1828), Hindella cassidea (Dalman 1828), Hirnantia sagittifera (McCoy 1851), Normalograptus persculptus (Elles and Wood, 1907) (Paper I) and several others. The specimens of the H. harparum association and Hirnantia fauna co-occur also in the Ketrzyn IG 1 drill core in N Poland (Rubel in Modliński et al. 2002; Paper II), further confirming that the H. harparum ostracod association is part of the cosmopolitan Hirnantia fauna sensu lato. Since the studied material derives from loose rock slabs, statistical analysis and correlation of the ostracod record with dynamics of the δ^{13} C curve was not possible for the Borenshult locality but several of the blocks demonstrate elevated δ^{13} C values (Paper II). The purpose of studying the ostracod material from the Råssnäsudden outcrop was to confirm the presence of Hirnantian strata in Östergötland by obtaining the species of the H. harparum ostracod association from this suggested Hirnantian section, together with $\delta^{13}C$ data.

The end-Ordovician ostracods of E and NE Poland were studied three decades ago by Stejn (1985, 1989). The ostracod data represented in the mentioned papers were qualitative and generalized over stages and could not be used in statistical analysis, correlation of ostracod data with δ^{13} C values or analysing the first and last appearance datums (FADs and LADs) of the key species. The **Kętrzyn IG 1** borehole in NE Poland was studied in order to update and specify the species composition and distribution pattern of ostracod associations in NE Poland during the latest Ordovician and, if possible, to justify the position of the lower boundary of the Hirnantian Stage in this area.

Not many studies have been conducted on the latest Ordovician ostracods in Lithuania. Two papers by Sidaravičiene (1992, 1996) about Lithuanian Ordovician ostracods are available, but the data are not sufficiently detailed and the Hirnantian seems to be missing in most of the sections she studied. The **Paroveja-9** drill core was incorporated in the present study to provide the latest Ordovician ostracod data obtained for N Lithuania.

Data from the three aforementioned sections were complemented with sections in N Estonia and Latvia to compile a detailed quantitative ostracod database with individual sample resolution covering the entire ancient BPB area.

The stable isotopic data were mainly gathered from numerous previously published studies (Brenchley *et al.* 2003; Ainsaar and Meidla, 2008; Ainsaar *et al.* 2010; Bauert *et al.* 2014) except for δ^{13} C data of the **Råssnäsudden** outcrop material which were collected and analysed for Paper II in the Department of Geology of the University of Tartu, Estonia.

The chitinozoan and graptolite data used as additional biostratigraphic markers in this study were gathered from published papers (Brenchley *et al.* 2003; Kaljo *et al.* 2008; Meidla *et al.* 2014; Nõlvak, 2008).

Laboratory preparation of material and study methods

For ostracod fossils, crushed rock material (fragment size $\sim 2-3$ cm) was treated using a standard physical disintegration method with sodium hyposulphite (Na₂S₂O₃*5H₂O), heating and cooling repeatedly. After this, the samples were wet sieved into four fractions (>2 mm, 0.5–2 mm, 0.25–0.5 mm, <0.25 mm) and dried. Ostracods were picked from the dry residue using stereoscopic binocular microscope with amagnification of 16–25x (Tinn and Meidla, 2004; Tinn *et al.*, 2006, 2010).

Published ostracod data and existing collections were used for species identification. Photomicrographs of ostracods for Paper I were taken using a PHILIPS XL30 ESEM TMP scanning electron microscope in the Institute of Physics of the University of Tartu, Estonia. For Papers II and IV, photomicrographs of ostracods were taken using the Zeiss EVO MA15 SEM scanning electron microscope in the Department of Geology, University of Tartu (Paper II). The collection numbers for collections are TUG-1583 for Paper I, GIT-698 for Paper II and TUG-1820 for Paper IV. Collections TUG-1583 and TUG-1820 are deposited in the Natural History Museum, University of Tartu, collection GIT-698 is deposited in the Department of Geology of Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia.

For stable carbon isotopic analysis, about 2 g piece of material was taken from each sample and powdered. The powdered material was analysed using the mass spectrometer Delta V Advantage and (for preparation of gases) GasBench II by Thermo Scientific, using the international standards NBS 18, NBS 19 and LSVEC. The analytical work was conducted in the mass spectrometry laboratory in the Department of Geology of the University of Tartu, Estonia (Paper I).

Statistical analyses of ostracod associations

The parent dataset was constructed as data matrix with locality, sample, stratigraphic and species data. The information originated from newly collected data from core sections and outcrops and from relevant literature, which was examined in the course of the compilation of this database (see Fig. 1 for the sections). However, due to different levels of generalization, the latter was not always usable for detailed statistical analyses (see supplementary information of Paper III at https://doi.org/10.23679/505).

From this parent dataset we restricted the study to species and samples with more than one sample/taxonomic occurrence. Samples with unduly low diversity were also excluded from the dataset, and, in the final stage of the analyses, also samples with very unstable position. The remaining matrix contains data on 15 983 ostracod individuals/specimens, attributed to 116 species, 71 genera and 9 suborders, where the Katian is represented by 103 samples, Hirnantian by 34 samples and late Hirnantian–Silurian transition (late Hirnantian–Rhuddanian, designated as "Juuru" below) by 11 samples. Altogether 148 samples from 20 localities were analysed (Paper III).

For statistical analyses, we used Microsoft Excel 2007 in Papers I–IV and the PAST statistical package version 4.01 (Palaeontological Statistics; Hammer *et al.*, 2001) for Paper III and version 4.03 for Paper IV. The non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination and unweighted pair group method of linkage (UPGMA) cluster analyses were conducted on the presence/absence matrix using the Jaccard similarity index as a distance measure. The UPGMA clustering (also known as average linkage or mean linkage clustering), where the distance between two clusters is defined as the average of all possible distances (Hammer and Harper, 2005), helps to distinguish and illustrate different groups in the dataset and is often used in ecological analyses (Paper III).

The UPGMA analyses resulted in five major clusters (Fig. 4). The clusters, named Katian-1, Katian-2, Hirnantian-1, Hirnantian-2 and Juuru, represent concurrently stratigraphical and biogeographical units (supplementary online data at https://doi.org/10.23679/505).

The two biggest clusters, Katian-1 and Katian-2, incorporate taxa/samples of late Katian age. The division of the samples is based on their geographical distribution. The clusters Hirnantian-1 and Hirnantian-2 represent samples/taxa of Hirnantian age, but again, from different parts of the study area. Hirnantian-1 comprises samples of Central and N Estonia, Hirnantian-2 covers the southern part of the study area (Abja-92, Taagepera, Jurmala R-1, Kętrzyn IG 1 drill cores). The cluster Juuru comprises samples from the Laeva-18, Aidu-427, Viljandi-91 and Råsnassuden sections (Paper III).



Figure 4. Dendrogram of cluster analysis of the Upper Ordovician–basal Llandoverian ostracod samples. Clusters Katian-1 and Katian-2 consist of samples containing preglacial associations, clusters Hirnantian-1 and Hirnantian-2 of samples containing species distinctive to the glacial period and the cluster Juuru contains samples yielding the post-glacial survival and recovery faunas. Clusters Katian-1 and Katian-2 comprise samples from the shallower and deeper part of the BPB, respectively. Cluster Hirnantian-1 contains N Estonian uppermost Katian–lower Hirnantian samples and Hirnantian-2 involves the Hirnantian samples from the Livonian Basin.

The biodiversity indices (Shannon index, dominance and evenness) were calculated for all five clusters. While in the Katian and Hirnantian clusters both the dominance and Shannon indices are relatively similar (0.1 to 0.2 and 2.0 to 2.5, respectively), the Juuru cluster shows rather different values (d = 0.5 and H = 0.7). The evenness values stay low (>0.3) in the Katian clusters and in the cluster Hirnantian-1 but make a considerable leap up to 0.4 in the Hirnantian-2 and further to 0.5 in the Juuru cluster (Paper III).

Detrended correspondence analysis (DCA) was performed on the same dataset, in order to provide an alternative visualization for the Katian, Hirnantian and Juuru ostracod assemblages of the Baltic area. As one of the tools for multidimensional data analysis in ecology and palaeontology DCA is discussed in detail by Clapham (2011) and Correa-Metrio *et al.* (2014); see also references therein. It has been argued that the detrending process may yield more accurate and interpretable ordination results, especially for long ecological gradients or in the case of rapid ecological turnover (Clapham, 2011) (Paper III).

RESULTS

The five clusters obtained with the statistical analyses (Katian-1, Katian-2, Hirnantian-1, Hirnantian-2 and Juuru) contain samples that yielded five distinct ostracod assemblages inhabiting the BPB during the period from the immediate pre-Hirnantian (roughly the 2nd half of the Katian) up to the Juuru Age. The distribution of samples between the clusters is presented in Figure 4. The diversity indices (dominance, evenness, Shannon index), calculated to evaluate and compare the diversity of the five associations, are presented in Figure 5. The distribution of the association is shown in Figure 6. The taxonomic relationship between the associations is presented in Figure 7.

Late Ordovician–basal Silurian ostracod associations in the BPB

Low generic dominance and high entropy (Fig. 5) suggest that the ostracod associations in both shallower and deeper parts of the BPB were rich and diverse during most of the Katian.

The two biggest clusters, Katian-1 and Katian-2, incorporate taxa/samples of Katian age, whilst the division of the samples is based on their geographical distribution (Fig. 6A and B, respectively).

The diversity values show that both of these clusters comprise rich and abundant associations (Fig. 5). The biggest but second most diverse association was formed from the samples which were included in the cluster Katian-1. The samples come from the northern part of Estonia (Fig. 6A) and represent 49 species of five suborders. The proportion of major taxonomic groups within the associations is strongly dependent on the grouping level. In specimen level, metacopes constitute by far the most dominant suborder, followed by palaeocopes, but palaeocopes dominate over metacopes in genus level. Binodicopes, together with eridostracans and paraparchitocopes, form the minority in this cluster (Fig. 7).

The richest cluster of the five, Katian-2, comprises localities/samples from the southern part of the study area (S Estonia and Råssnäsudden Fig. 6B) and encompasses altogether 80 species from eight suborders. The division of samples of Katian age is not strict; both Katian clusters contain samples from the Abja-92, Taagepera and Puhmu-567 sections (Paper III). The majority of ostracod genera belong to Palaeocopa, Metacopa and Binodicopa; leiocope, paraparchito-cope, cypridocope, cytherelliform and eridostracan species form the minority of the genera (Fig. 7).



Figure 5. Plots displaying different diversity indices (number of taxa, number of specimens, dominance, Simpson and Shannon indices and evenness) for the Katian, Hirnantian and Juuru (Rhuddanian) clusters and for the total dataset.



Figure 6. Distribution areas of ostracod associations corresponding to the clusters Katian-1 (A), Katian-2 (B), Hirnantian-1 (C), Hirnantian-2 (D) and Juuru (E). Due to the nature of the original data, some of the sections and samples were removed from the data matrix in the course of the analysis. Only sections that were retained in the modified data are figured on the maps.



Figure 7. Pie charts of the five clusters (Katian-1, Katian-2, Hirnantian-1, Hirnantian-2 and Juuru) demonstrating the relative proportions of individuals per genera and suborders.

The typical "non-Hirnantian" fauna described in samples of the clusters Katian-1 and Katian-2 occurs in the intervals where the carbon stable isotopic ratio has low values, corresponding approximately to the Baltic Carbon Isotopic Zones BC13– BC15 (Figs 2, 8). The δ^{13} C values are slowly starting to rise in the uppermost part of the Katian Stage. This interval corresponds rather well to the Zone BC15 (Fig. 2; Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010). The Zone BC15 shows slightly rising δ^{13} C values (up to ~1.5‰ in its topmost part; Ainsaar *et al.* 2010; Fig. 8, Paper III) before the steep rise of δ^{13} C levels corresponding to BC16 and the global Hirnantian carbon isotopic excursion (HICE). This trend is visible in most of the Baltoscandian sections, e.g. Männamaa (F-367), Taagepera, Valga-10, Jurmala R-1 and Riekstini drill cores (Fig. 2) although BC14 and BC15 are absent in many northern Estonian sections (e.g. the Puhmu-567 and Kaugatuma drill cores; Kaljo *et al.*, 2017 and Brenchley *et al.*, 2003, respectively) due to a sedimentary gap.

The clusters Hirnantian-1 and Hirnantian-2 represent samples/taxa of Hirnantian age, but from different parts of the study area and of slightly different age. The difference between the Hirnantian clusters is also more conspicuous than between the Katian clusters: no sections are represented in both of the Hirnantian clusters.

The cluster Hirnantian-1 is composed of samples from the Ärina Fm. characteristic of Central and North Estonia and is slightly older than material in the cluster Hirnantian-2. Hirnantian-1 is restricted to the Estonian Shelf (Fig. 6C) – it comprises samples of 52 species from six suborders. The taxonomic composition of this association resembles that of the Katian-1 association but is considerably impoverished compared to the latter. The great majority of both the specimens and genera are palaeocopes and metacopes. The binodicopes form a small fraction of the specimens in samples of this cluster but in genus level they still form the third biggest suborder after palaeocopes and metacopes, while cypridocopes and eridostracans are missing here (Fig. 7).

The occurrence of the association of the cluster Hirnantian-1 in the sections is tied to slightly rising carbon stable isotopic values, corresponding approximately to the transition from the topmost Zone BC15 into the lower part of BC16 (Fig. 2).

The cluster Hirnantian-2 comprises samples of Hirnantian age and covers the southern part of the study area (Abja-92, Taagepera, Kętrzyn IG 1; Fig. 6D). It contains considerably poorer ostracod material than the cluster Hirnantian-1 – 25 species from six suborders. Species composition of the ostracod assemblage picked from this material is significantly different from that of any aforementioned association. The relative importance of binodicopes has risen considerably here: close to half of the specimens and genera belong to the suborder Binodicopa. The importance of metacopes has dropped here, but they are still the second largest group at both individual and genus levels. The significance of the palaeocopes is strongly reduced (Fig. 7). The analysis shows high diversity with low dominance and high Shannon and evenness indices (Fig. 5). The association described from the samples forming the cluster Hirnantian-2 is found in the intervals with high and/or gradually lowering carbon stable isotopic ratios comprising the upper part of the Zone BC16 and unit BC17 (Fig.-s 6, 8).



Figure 8.

O I Aechmina groenwalli (7) 2 Airina cornuta

m

- (B.sp) 3 Baltonotella sp.
- 4 Circulinella gailitae 1
- 5 Dagoerayella sulcata
 - 6 Daleiella rotundata
- 7 Drepanella pauxilla Ē
- 8 Easchmidtella orbicularis
- 9 Gryphiswaldensia plavinensis 10 Harpabollia harparum Ð
- 11 Kinnekullea reducta 60
 - 12 Longiscula porrecta
- 13 Longiscula smithii
- 15 Medianella blidenensis 14 Medianella aequa
- 16 Microcheilinella globulosa
 - 17 Microcheilinella lubrica 18 Microcheilinella mobile
- 19 Microcheilinella rozhdestvenskaja
- 20 Microcheilinella sp. M.sp.
- 21 Pseudoancora confragosa
- 22 Pseudulrichia disputabile ę
- 23 Pullvillites laevis
- 🔵 24 Rectella carinaspinata

0

25 Rectella composita 26 Rectella explanata

Ø

- 27 Rectella romboformis R.sp.
- 29 Rectella sturiensis 28 Rectella sp.

Spinachitina taugourdeaui





Hirnantian-Rhuddanian boundary

view of the distribution of (A). The sections used are lours mark the distribution Figure 8. A schematic overthe five ostracod associations in different parts of the BPB from the late Katian up to the earliest Silurian marked on the map (C). Cointervals of different associations and approximately correspond to the Baltic The δ^{13} C levels rise fast up to 5–6‰ (e.g. in the Ruhnu (500) and Jurmala R-1 drill cores) in the lower half of the Kuldiga Fm. (Ainsaar *et al.*, 2010). Although BC16 is missing in many northern Estonian sections due to the sedimentary hiatus, it is still observable in some Estonian Shelf sections where the containing strata have been preserved, e.g. in the Puhmu-567 (N Estonia) and Männamaa F-367 (NW Estonian) cores (Paper III).

Carbon Isotopic Zones (B). The distribution of the most common or characteristic species is marked with schematic drawings, explanations to the numbers are given in Figure 8B. The yellow bar (in the Männamaa F-367, Taagepera and Valga-10 columns) marks the FAD and LAD of *Spinachitina taugourdeaui*, blue bar (Taagepera, Valga-10) marks the appearance of the first typical elements of the *H. harparum* association. Sections are not drawn to scale. "Juuru" marks the appearance of the survival fauna. "Sil." next to the topmost association at the Råssnäsudden section marks the real lower Silurian recovery fauna.

The Juuru cluster comprises samples from the Laeva-18, Aidu-427, Viljandi-91 and Råsnassuden sections (Fig. 6E; Paper III). The taxonomic composition of the ostracod association gathered from the samples of the Juuru cluster differs conspicuously from those of the other four aforementioned associations. The association is very poor: basically all of the specimens are metacopes belonging mostly to the genera *Microcheilinella* and *Longiscula*. This association is tied to the intervals of low but still gradually dropping carbon stable isotopic values corresponding to BC17 and above (Fig. 2).

Hirnantian in North Estonia

The cluster analysis conducted for this study makes a very clear separation between the Hirnantian ostracod samples in N Estonia and S Estonia (Fig. 2 in Paper III). Samples from N Estonia, comprising the very shallow-water Estonian Shelf during the Late Ordovician (Fig. 6C), agglomerate into a distinct cluster Hirnantian-1 representing the endemic metacope-dominated N Estonian ostracod association, also called the *Medianella aequa* association (Meidla, 1996b). This association has only very few common species with the Hirnantian-2 cluster but has similarity with the rich warm-water Katian-1 cluster, aside from being heavily impoverished (Paper III).

Hirnantian in South Estonia

South Estonia was a marginal area of the Livonian Basin during the latest Ordovician. Samples of Hirnantian age from S Estonian sections form the cluster Hirnantian-2 representing the distinct binodicope-dominated Hirnantian coldwater ostracod association (Meidla, 1996b, 2007). Species characteristic of the specific Hirnantian ostracod association have been described from the Taagepera, Abja-92, Valga-10 and Otepää-2 drill cores in S Estonia (Fig. 6D; Meidla, 1996b). The N Estonian endemic association associated with the cluster Hirnantian-1 is absent here, except for a few specimens in the basal part of the Hirnantian succession (Fig. 6C).

Hirnantian in Latvia

During the latest Ordovician, most of the Latvian area comprised a part of the Livonian Basin (Fig. 1). The presence and distribution of the typical Hirnantian H. harparum ostracod association in this area has been confirmed in several papers (e.g. Ulst et al., 1982; Brenchley et al., 2003; Meidla et al., 2011; Paper III, IV). Samples from the Hirnantian strata in Latvia contain a relatively abundant H. harparum ostracod association and fall into the cluster Hirnantian-2. All four typical dominant species of this association (sensu Meidla, 2007), Harpabollia harparum, Circulinella gailitae Meidla, 1996b, Aechmina groenwalli Troedsson, 1918 and Rectella sturiensis Gailīte, 1975, are present in the Hirnantian rock material from the Riekstini drill core (W Latvia). One of the most complete late Ordovician sections in Baltoscandia is the Jurmala R-1 drill core in Central Latvia (Paper IV) which has yielded a little less diverse H. harparum association than in other parts in the Livonian Basin (e.g. Ketrzyn IG 1drill core in N Poland). Still, a conspicuous change in the composition of ostracod associations in transition from the Katian to the Hirnantian is definitely present here too. This core section yielded also few specimens of Circulinella gailitae, Pseudoancora confragosa (Gailīte 1970) and Scanipisthia rectangularis (Troedsson 1918) in the Saldus Fm. The H. harparum association disappears at the top of this formation that is marked as a disconformity (depth 730.9 m).

Hirnantian in Lithuania

Only two drill cores, Sutkai 89 and Sutkai 101 in SW Lithuania, contain the strata that are attributed to the upper part of the Vaineikiai Fm., correlated to the Kuldiga and Saldus formations in Latvia and S Estonia (Sidaravičiene, 1996). Still, no faunal proof for the Hirnantian age of these strata has been found in this material as the recorded taxa are typical of the cluster Katian-2 and have little or no affinity to either the Hirnantian-1 or Hirnantian-2 cluster. The collected ostracod specimens represent either typical pre-Hirnantian species or widespread long-ranging metacope species (Sidaravičiene, 1996). However, the ostracod species characteristic of the Hirnantian-2 cluster have been found in W and NW Lithuania. The association collected from the Paroveja-9 drill core (NW Lithuania; Paper III) has the taxonomic composition typical of the Hirnantian containing species such as *C. gailitae*, *A. groenwalli* and *R. sturiensis* although the nominate species of the association is missing.

Unfortunately, no carbon stable isotopic analyses have been conducted on Lithuanian Late Ordovician material, so it is currently only tentatively possible to juxtapose ostracod data with the isotopic curve. Considering that the Hirnantian-2 association appears close to or at the peak of the carbon isotopic excursion in the sections where both the isotopic and ostracod data are available, we can suggest that the isotopic zone BC16 and possibly a part of BC17 are present in W and NW Lithuania but most likely missing in E and SE Lithuania (Fig. 2).

Hirnantian in North and North-East Poland

Currently no δ^{13} C data are available from N and NE Poland, so the relative timing of carbon isotopic fluctuations and the appearance of the H. harparum association in this region could not be demonstrated. No δ^{13} C data are available also for the N Polish Ketrzyn IG 1 drill core but the ostracod data from this drill core show that some of the Hirnantian-2 ostracod association species (Circulinella gailitae, Rectella sturiensis) appear at a depth of 1554.4 m and the core species of the Hirnantian-2 association (H. harparum, Drepanella pauxilla Gailīte, 1970, Pseudoancora parovina (Sidaravičiene, 1975) nearly 3 m-s higher. Knowing that the the Hirnantian-2 association appears on the rising limb of the δ^{13} C curve and ranges up to the O-S boundary in the Jurmala R-1 drill core, we can assume an approximate position of BC16 and BC17 in the Ketrzyn IG 1 drill core as indicated in Figure 8. The Katian–Hirnantian boundary was up to now only tentatively drawn in N Poland due to the lack of zonal graptolites. $\delta^{13}C$ data and insufficient chitinozoan data. The level of the appearance of the species of the Hirnantian-2 association (Fig. 9) also allows us to draw the Katian-Hirnantian boundary in the interval of 1551.2–1554.8 m in this drill core (Paper II). By and large, the warm-water pre-Hirnantian and specific cold-water Hirnantian ostracod associations do not occur together in the BPB. A clear turnover of ostracod associations that is recorded in every other part of the studied area does not seem to be that conspicuous in NE Poland. Although the ostracod association of Hirnantian age resembles that of other sections within the Livonian Basin (S Estonia, Latvia and W Lithuania), it is aberrantly more diverse. This material contains some metacope species (Dagoerayella elongata (Meidla, 1983), Brevantia brevis Meidla, 1996b, Pullvillites laevis Abushik et Sarv, 1983) untypical of the H. harparum association in other parts of the basin, and two species of the ostracod genus Cryptophyllus Levinson, 1951 which otherwise is typical of shallow warmwater environments in the BPB. One of these species, C. pius Truuver et Meidla 2015, is strongly dominating this assemblage, and the other, C. gutta Schallreuter, 1968, is among the most abundant species as well (Paper II).

Few metacope and binodicope ostracods have been found in the Hirnantian strata of eastern Poland (Stejn, 1989; Meidla, *et al.*, 2013). This scarce association contains no key elements of the *H. harparum* association. The few taxa recorded here (*Pyxion* sp., *Rectella* sp.) are common in N Estonian ostracod association of the Ärina Fm. and may refer to the Hirnantian-1 association.



Figure 9. Chart of ostracod distribution in the Kętrzyn IG 1 drill core (N Poland). Modified from Figure 4 in Paper II.

Hirnantian in Sweden

In S Sweden the *H. harparum* association and the δ^{13} C positive excursion have been described in the Borenshult area (Meidla, 2007; Bergström *et al.*, 2012; Paper I). The two lowermost samples collected from the Jonstorp Fm. of the nearby Råssnäsudden section contain clearly pre-Hirnantian species (e.g. *Sigmobolbina camarota* Jaanusson, 1966, *Daleiella rotundata* Meidla, 1996b, *Rectella explanata* Meidla, 1996b). The overlying "Loka" Fm. was assigned to the Hirnantian Stage by Bergström and Bergström (1996) on the basis of macrofossil data. The current study revealed no ostracod species characteristic of the *H. harparum* association in other locations in the BPB which would confirm that notion (Fig. 10; Paper I). The δ^{13} C analysis conducted on this material does not show any conspicuous positive shift similar to the HICE either (Paper I).



Figure 10. Chart of ostracod distribution in the Råssnäsudden section (S Sweden). Modified from Figure 4 in Paper I.

DISCUSSION

Sztejn (1989) points out a clear interconnection between the ostracod associations and the sedimentary environments in the BPB. The considerable environmental changes related to the Hirnantian glaciation brought along substantial changes in the ostracod communities all over the BPB. Kalio et al. (2008) argue that the diversity of many faunal groups in the BPB (e.g. brachiopods, conodonts, acritarchs, chitinozoans) started dropping already in the latest Katian and suggest that the first pulse of the end-Ordovician extinction was not a very sudden event. The same was observed in the latest Katian ostracod communities as well. In all studied sections, the uppermost Katian samples are rich and abundant but get considerably poorer or are devoid of ostracods towards the Katian-Hirnantian boundary (Meidla, 1996b; Paper I, II). The statistical analyses of this study support this judgement. The diversity indices in most of the studied sections start dropping already in the uppermost Katian (Fig. 8 in Paper III) indicating that the previously rich and abundant pre-Hirnantian ostracod association starts to decline already below the Katian-Hirnantian boundary and the beginning of the carbon stable isotope excursion.

The sedimentary environment of the Lithuanian Shelf (SE and S Lithuanian area) was very similar to that of the Estonian Shelf in the Late Ordovician, lying in the equivalent position in the basinwide facies zonation. The strong affinity between the ostracod associations of the N Estonian Shelf and the Lithuanian Shelf was expected, but could not be properly demonstrated up to now. This may likely result from the collection bias in the Lithuanian material. Podocopes, heavily dominating in this assemblage within the Estonian Shelf, were likely undersampled or omitted from the Lithuanian studies (as stated by Sidaravičiene, 1992, p. 8).

The sections of the Livonian Basin (sensu Harris et al., 2014) represent the deeper part of the BPB and contain species of the so-called Harpabollia harparum ostracod association characteristic of the Hirnantian of Baltoscandia. The new, distinct association does not appear at the lower boundary of the Hirnantian Stage, but somewhat above it (Fig. 2) and always above the LAD of Spinachitina taugourdeaui, in the Spinachitina scabra Zone, as has been observed in every section where both of the groups are present (Fig. 6; Paper IV). Setting the ostracod data against the $\delta^{13}C$ curve shows that the *H. harparum* association species does not appear concurrently with the beginning of the stable carbon positive excursion at the base of the Baltic Carbon Isotopic Zone BC16 but on the rising limb or at the peak of it (Fig. 2). Meidla (1996b, 2007) has shown that the H. harparum association co-occurs with some of the typical Hirnantia fauna species sensu stricto and thus can be considered as Hirnantia fauna sensu lato. The H. harparum association co-occurs with Eostropheodonta hirnantensis in the Prabuty Fm. of the Ketrzyn IG 1 drill core in NE Poland (Rubel in Modliński et al., 2002; Paper II), confirming again that this association can be considered an indicator of Hirnantian age as suggested by Meidla (1996a, 2007).

Most of the sections within the Livonian Basin contain either one or more sedimentational gaps in the Kuldiga and Saldus formations (e.g. Taagepera, Riekstini, Paroveja-9 drill cores). Ostracod associations in these formations are considerably poorer than the pre-Hirnantian associations, especially in the Saldus Fm. Although the highly stressful environmental conditions probably had a direct effect on the abundance of ostracods, the sedimentary environments must also be taken into consideration here. The Saldus Fm. was deposited in a high-energy environment and is often represented by oolitic limestones that are barren of ostracods because the shells were most likely "washed out" as too light sedimentary particles. Microlaminated limestones that were formed in extremely shallow-water conditions may contain occasional specimens but domeritic layers are barren again because of preservational reasons (dolomitizations has destroyed the shells). The most complete section in this area is the Jurmala R-1 section in Latvia (Fig. 2; Paper IV) which displays a unique continuous carbonate succession throughout the uppermost Katian and Hirnantian into the Rhuddanian (Paper IV), with a sharp diversity decline and rise in dominance, followed by a complete turnover (Paper IV).

Sidaravičiene (1996) suggests that the Vaineikiai Fm. (considered a counterpart of the Estonian Kuldiga Fm. by Paškevičius, 1973, 1997) is present in the Butkunai borehole (NE Lithuania) although she recorded only the pre-Hirnantian taxa. As the *Harpabollia harparum* association is missing in the North Estonian sections, it is possible that the Vaineikiai Fm. in this section is coeval with the Ärina Fm. in N Estonia (Fig. 1 in Paper III).

The *H. harparum* association is not of completely uniform distribution and composition in the latest Ordovician BPB but varies both in abundance and species composition in different parts of the BPB. South Estonia represents the northernmost distribution area of the *H. harparum* ostracod association inhabiting the deeper-water Livonian Basin. The taxonomic composition of both the pre-Hirnantian and Hirnantian ostracod associations here is similar to the rest of the Livonian Basin, although the ranges of the typical species of the cold-water Hirnantian association are shorter than in the sections of the deeper part of the BPB (Meidla, 1996b; Meidla *et al.*, 2020). The sharp turnover of ostracod associations which has been described in the other studied sections does not seem to have happened in the Kętrzyn IG 1 drill core in NE Poland, but instead some of the typical Katian ostracod species occur alongside the *H. harparum* association species (Paper II).

In Sweden, Bergström and Bergström (1996) described the Loka Fm. in the Råssnäsudden outcrop, just about 7 km east of the Borenshult locality (Fig. 1 in Paper I), and dated it as being of Hirnantian age, based on occasional finds of "Silurian-type" taxa (*Walliserodus curvatus* (Branson et Branson, 1947), *Ozar-kodina*? sp.) together with some typical Hirnantian taxa. Sixteen years later, Bergström *et al.* (2012) studied the uppermost Ordovician strata in the nearby Borenshult drill core and concluded that the lower part of the Loka Fm. in this section is coeval with the Kuldiga Fm. in Estonia and the upper part of Loka Fm. is at least partly coeval with the Saldus Fm. This agrees with the revelation of Meidla (2007) that a specimen of *N. persculptus* and ostracods belonging to the

H. harparum association appeared together on the same rockslab from the Borenshult locality, showing that the *H. harparum* association ranges into the *per*sculptus Zone. The Råssnäsudden outcrop was studied for ostracods by Truuver et al. (2012) in order to confirm the Hirnantian age of the Loka Fm. in this section. A faunal turnover and appearance of the abundant H. harparum association were expected in the strata overlying the Jonstorp Fm., but this was not the case. The ostracod association with dominating Gryphiswaldensia plavinensis (Gailīte, 1975), Sigmobolbina camarota, Pullvillites laevis and Daleiella rotundata strongly resembles that of the Jonstorp Fm. and is very similar to the ostracod associations attributed to the cluster Katian-2. The vast majority of the species range from the Jonstorp Fm. into the overlying strata designated as the "Loka" Fm. (Paper I). The δ^{13} C analysis conducted on the Råssnäsudden material did not show any significant positive shift at the lower boundary of the "Loka" Fm. either, which is considered one of the markers of the beginning of the Hirnantian Stage globally. The slightly elevated (up to 1.39‰) δ^{13} C values could correspond to BC14 and the so-called Paroveja isotopic excursion. The absence of elements of the distinct cold-water ostracod association typical of the Hirnantian in the BPB and also parts of the Gondwana palaeocontinent (South America (Reily et al., 2018), Bohemia (Schallreuter and Krůta 1990), the Carnic Alps (Schallreuter, 1990), Prague Basin (Lajblová and Kraft, 2018)), along with the absence of a positive δ^{13} C excursion, suggest that the strata attributed to the Loka Fm. in the Råssnäsudden section by Bergström and Bergström (1996) represent the pre-Hirnantian and the Hirnantian Stage is missing in the Råssnäsudden outcrop section (Paper I).

The *H. harparum* association is well represented in most sections in the middle part of the Livonian Basin (e.g. Riekstini and Jurmala R-1 drill cores in West Latvia, Paroveja-9 drill core in Lithuania and Ketrzyn IG 1 drill core in NE Poland). All the typical species are represented in the Riekstini drill core and the association ranges fairly evenly through the Kuldiga Fm. In the Jurmala R-1 drill core, the nominate species is missing and the key elements of the Hirnantia association have somewhat surprisingly short ranges (Paper IV). The association as a whole is also less diverse compared to some other sections within the Livonian Basin. but this is the first section where the *H. harparum* association is recorded ranging through the Saldus Fm. up to the regional disconformity. The ostracod association is more abundant in the Kuldiga Fm.; the diversity indices drop and dominance grows towards the Kuldiga-Saldus formation boundary. Few species (Scanipisthia rectangularis (Troedsson, 1918), Pseudoancora confragosa, Circulinella gailitae) are present in the lower part of the Saldus Fm. but S. rectangularis ranges up to the upper boundary of the formation. This proves that the H. harparum association is not only confined to the Kuldiga Fm. and lower half of the Saldus Fm., but ranges up to the regional disconformity and the appearance level of the post-glacial survival association (see below).

In the Kętrzyn IG 1 drill core (NE Poland) the key elements of the *H. harparum* association (*H. harparum*, *Drepanella pauxilla* Gailīte, 1970, *Pseudoancora parovina* (Sidaravičiene, 1975), *Circulinella gailitae*, *Rectella sturiensis*) occur

together with some typical pre-Hirnantian ostracods in the Hirnantian. The species mixture suggests that the N Polish area in the deeper part of the Livonian Basin seems to have acted as a kind of temporary refuge at the beginning of the crisis (Paper II). *Cryptophyllus pius* Truuver *et* Meidla (2015) is by far the most dominant species of the Hirnantian ostracod association in the Kętrzyn IG 1 section. The genus *Cryptophyllus* is typical of the pre-Hirnantian associations, but the species is unknown in every other section in the BPB. This kind of species mixture gives this association a transitional appearance between the *Medianella aequa* and *Harpabollia harparum* associations, something that has not been described anywhere else in the eastern Baltic area. The ostracod data together with the record of *Eostropheodonta hirnantensis* (McCoy) (Rubel in Modliński *et al.*, 2002) confirms the Hirnantian age of the Prabuty Fm. as suggested in previous papers (e.g. Modliński and Podhalańska, 2010), but lifts the stage boundary in the Kętrzyn IG 1 drill core a bit higher than suggested by Modliński *et al.* (2002), into the interval of 1551.2–1554.8 m (Paper II).

The poor post-glacial ostracod association, in the present study called "the 'Silurian' association", has been described in several sections of the BPB: in the Varbola and Õhne formations in the Laeva-18, Aidu-427, Viljandi-91 sections in Central Estonia (Meidla, 1996b), in the Stačiūnai Fm. of the Jurmala R-1 section in mid-Latvia, in the Paslek Fm. in the Kętrzyn IG 1 section in N Poland, in the Motala Fm. of the Råssnäsudden section in southern Sweden, and in several sections of Latvia (Gailīte *et al.* 1968) and Lithuania (Pranskevičius, 1972).

The newly appearing association is poor compared to the ostracod associations in the underlying Ärina and Saldus formations, consisting mostly of specimens of the podocope genera Longiscula and Microcheilinella. Both genera are well known in the Upper Ordovician, although the appearing species are new. The most common and usually dominant species in the post-glacial association is Longiscula smithii (Jones, 1887) which is usually accompanied by several species of Microcheilinella (e.g. Microcheilinella rozhdestvenskaja Neckaja, 1966, M. mobile Gailīte, 1967, M. globulosa Pranskevičius, 1971). Bipunctoprimitia bipunctata (Gailīte, 1991), Rectella procera Pranskevičius, 1971 and Longiscula immensa Pranskevičius, 1972 are among less abundant post-glacial species in the Central Latvian Jurmala R-1 drill core, along with the species of Longiscula and Microcheilinella (Paper IV). This association is characterized by very high dominance values, which may refer to slow recovery after the end-Ordovician glaciation-related extinction event, and could be characterized as a survival fauna. In N Poland (Ketrzyn IG 1 section), only questionable specimens of the genus Baltonotella were found in the Pasłęk Fm. (Fig. 9; Paper II). This part of the section looks not very representative for discussing the composition of the early survival fauna, although the scarcity of ostracods could also be tentatively interpreted as indicative of a very slow beginning of the recovery.

The age of the appearance of this assemblage is likely the latest Ordovician, as quite a few recent studies (e.g. Meidla *et al.*, 2011, 2014, Gorjan *et al.*, 2012, Ainsaar *et al.* 2015) have suggested, on the basis of δ^{13} C values that are declining above the "traditional" O-S boundary, that the Ordovician-Silurian boundary is

located higher in the BPB. Due to the almost complete absence of graptolites in the latest Katian and earliest post-Hirnantian strata within the BPB, it is very hard to correlate this part of the succession with the global scale. Juxtaposing the δ^{13} C curve of the Jurmala R-1 section with the δ^{13} C curve in the Monitor Range, Nevada, USA (Finney *et al.*, 1999; LaPorte *et al.*, 2009) shows that the curves have a very similar shape. The correlation of graptolite data and δ^{13} C data in the Monitor Range section suggests that a substantial part of the Stačiunai Fm. may belong to the *persculptus* Zone (Papers III, IV). The co-occurrence of a specimen of *N. persculptus* on the same piece of rock with specimens of some core species of the *H. harparum* association confirms that the *H. harparum* association ranges into the *N. persculptus* Graptolite Zone in the BPB (Meidla, 2007; Papers III, IV). Taken together, these data suggest that the post-glacial association appearing after the demise of the *H. harparum* association in the BPB represents the terminal Ordovician (or terminal Ordovician–Rhuddanian) survival fauna.

The ostracod association of the Motala Fm. in the Rassnäsudden section (S Sweden) has the same dominant as the survival fauna documented in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania but differs in its higher diversity and abundance. The most abundant species is again Longiscula smithii but the co-occurring species (e.g. Microcheilinella globulosa, Microcheilinella sp. B, M. mobile, M. rozhdestvenskaja) are much more abundant and accompanied by a diverse association of less abundant species (Paper I). These species are formerly known only from the strata traditionally considered as basal Silurian (references to rare M. rozhdestvenskaja and L. smithii in the post-glacial terminal Ordovician according to Pranskevičius (1972) were not confirmed by later studies by Sidaravičiene (1992, 1996). The δ^{13} C values in the strata containing this association at Råssnäsudden stav constantly around 0–0,3‰ through the studied interval (Fig. 7 in Paper I). Considering the findings of the conodonts Icriodella discreta Pollock, Rexroad et Nicoll, 1970 in the lower Aeronian of Britain and in the upper Rhuddanian and lower Aeronian of the Oslo region, Bergström and Bergström (1996) state that the Motala Fm. at Råssnäsudden is somewhat younger. The relatively high diversity of the association also suggests that this association does not reflect the beginning of the recovery process but is younger. Taking the integrated conodont, ostracod and stable isotope evidence into account, it is safe to claim that this association can be interpreted as the Silurian recovery fauna.

Conclusions

 Although the end-Ordovician mass extinction is attributed to the beginning of the Hirnantian in many older papers, the declining ostracod diversity towards the Hirnantian suggests that the deterioration commenced already in the late Katian. The trend of gradual decrease in ostracod diversity towards the Katian– Hirnantian boundary before the carbon stable isotopic excursion in the studied sections supports that idea. The major rearrangements in the Hirnantian ostracod succession of the BPB are marked by the appearance of the *H. harparum* ostracod association and the so-called "Silurian fauna" in the lower and upper parts of the stage, respectively.

- 2. Two distinct Hirnantian ostracod associations can be distinguished in BPB. The endemic metacope-dominated *Medianella aequa* association is present only in the Ärina Fm. of N Estonian Shelf. The distinct Hirnantian *Harpabollia harparum* ostracod association appears in the Hirnantian strata of the Livonian Basin but is missing in the studied sections of the Estonian and Lithuanian shelves. The association does not appear at the lower boundary of the Hirnantian Stage but somewhat above it. Comparison with ostracod, chitinozoan and δ^{13} C data shows that this association always appears above the LAD of *Spinachitina taugourdeaui* and on the rising limb or at the peak of the δ^{13} C positive excursion, not at the beginning of it. In the Jurmala R-1 drill core, the association was documented ranging through the Kuldiga and Saldus formations up to the regional disconformity, disappearing immediately before the appearance of the post-glacial ostracod association.
- 3. The *H. harparum* association has been considered a part of the cosmopolitan *Hirnantia* fauna *sensu lato*. This view gains further support from the co-occurrence of the *H. harparum* association with *Eostropheodonta hirnantensis* (McCoy) in Poland and from the increasing number of occurrences of this association outside the BPB.
- 4. The abundance and stratigraphic range of the *H. harparum* association in the BPB is variable. The rich and abundant *H. harparum* association described in the Borenshult locality (S Sweden) was not found in the basal strata of the nearby Råssnäsudden outcrop assigned to the Loka Fm. by Bergström and Bergström (1996). The clearly pre-Hirnantian nature of the ostracod association described in samples of both the Jonstorp and Loka formations, and low δ^{13} C values allow suggesting that the Loka Fm. *sensu* Bergström and Bergström (1996) is of pre-Hirnantian age. The slight rise in δ^{13} C values in the lower part of the "Loka" Fm. at Råssnäsudden may represent the Paroveja excursion corresponding to the Baltic Carbon Isotopic Zone BC14.
- 5. The co-occurrence of the typical pre-Hirnantian and Hirnantian ostracod species in the lower Prabuty Fm. of the Kętrzyn IG 1 drill core (NE Poland) created a unique species mixture which suggests that deeper parts of the basin might have acted as a temporary refuge for more resilient pre-Hirnantian species at least for some time after the beginning of glaciation.
- 6. The appearance of the typical elements of the *H. harparum* association in the interval of 1551.2–1554.8 m in the Kętrzyn IG 1 drill core allowed us to justify the position of the lower boundary of the Hirnantian Stage in the area and suggest it to be positioned in the interval of 1551.2–1554.8 m in that section.
- 7. The lower part of the Juuru RS (the Hirnantian–Rhuddanian transition interval) is characterized by an impoverished ostracod assemblage dominated by *Longiscula smithii* and accompanied by the species of *Microcheilinella* and *Rectella*. This association replaces the *H. harparum* association on the background of gradual decline in the δ^{13} C values. The late Hirnantian appearance

of this very low-diversity assemblage allows us to consider it a post-glacial survival fauna.

The ostracod assemblage described from the Motala Fm. of the Råssnäsudden outcrop has the same key species as the post-glacial survival fauna but is much more abundant and diverse. Micropalaeontological and chemostratigraphic data suggest that it is considerably younger and could thus be characterized as a recovery fauna.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my deep gratitude to my supervisors Prof. Tõnu Meidla and Ass. Prof. Oive Tinn (Department of Geology, University of Tartu) for their guidance and support throughout my studies and Prof. Leho Ainsaar (Department of Geology, University of Tartu) for all his kind (and often humorous) advice. I am grateful to Acad. Kalle Kirsimäe (Department of Geology, University of Tartu) for advice and help with SEM microphotography, Holar Sepp (Department of Geology, University of Tartu) for his help in δ^{13} C analyses and Ruth Bengel for preparation of ostracod material. I wish to thank Dr. Jaak Nõlvak (Department of Geology, Tallinn University of Technology) for granting us access to the Polish ostracod material and Dr. Sigitas Radzevicius for welcoming us in the Department of Geology and Mineralogy in Vilnius University and allowing us to study Lithuanian ostracod material.

This research was funded by the Estonian Science Foundation (grant ETF8049) and Estonian Research Council (grants SF0180051s08 "Ordovician and Silurian climate changes, as documented from the biotic changes and depositional environments in the Baltoscandian Palaeobasin", IUT20-34 "The Phanerozoic journey of Baltica: sedimentary, geochemical and biotic signatures of changing environment – PalaeoBaltica" and PRG836 "Tracing the origins of early Paleozoic stable carbon isotopic excursions – global, regional and local drivers"). This research was also a part of the IGCP project 653: The Onset of the Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event (GOBE). Additional financial support for attending the conferences was provided by Doctoral School of Ecology and Earth Sciences, the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu and the Archimedes Foundation.

I am immensely grateful to my family and my friends and colleagues in the Department of Geology, University of Tartu for all their help and support. I am also deeply grateful to my friends and colleagues in the Estonian Museum of Natural History for their support and good wishes. Finally, special thanks go to my "palaeo-colleague", Liisa Lang, for the very intriguing discussions.

REFERENCES

- Abushik, A. and Sarv, L. 1983. Ostracodes from the Moldovo Stage of Podolia. [Ostrakody moldovskogo gorizonta Podolii]. In: E. Klaamann (Ed) Lower Paleozoic paleontology of Baltics and Podolia, 101–134.
- Ainsaar, L. and Meidla, T. 2008. Ordovician carbon isotopes. In: Männamaa (F763) drill core. Estonian geological sections, 9, 27–29.
- Ainsaar, L., Meidla, T. and Tinn, O. 2004. Middle and Upper Ordovician stable isotope stratigraphy across the facies belts in the East Baltic. In: O. Hints and L. Ainsaar (Eds), WOGOGOB-2004 Conference Materials, 11–12. Tartu University Press, Tartu.
- Ainsaar, L., Kaljo, D., Martma, T., Meidla, T., Männik, P., Nõlvak, J. and Tinn O. 2010. Middle and Upper Ordovician carbon isotope chemostratigraphy in Baltoscandia: A correlation standard and clues to environmental history. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 294, 189–201.
- Ainsaar, L. Truumees, J. and Meidla, T. 2015. The position of the Ordovician-Silurian boundary in Estonia tested by high-resolution δ¹³C chemostratigraphic correlation. In: M. Ramkumar (Ed), Chemostratigraphy: Concepts, Techniques and Applications, 395–412. Elsevier.
- Bauert, H., Ainsaar, L., Põldsaar, K. and Sepp, S. 2014. δ^{13} C chemostratigraphy of the Middle and Upper Ordovician succession in the Tartu-453 drillcore, southern Estonia, and significance of the HICE. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 63(4), 195–200.
- Bergström, S. M. and Bergström, J. 1996. The Ordovician-Silurian boundary successions in Östergötland and Västergötland, S. Sweden. GFF, 118(1), 25–42.
- Bergström, S. M., Calner, M., Lehnert, O. and Noor, A. 2011a. Lower Katian (Upper Ordovician) δ^{13} C chemostratigraphy, global correlation and sea-level changes in Baltoscandia. GFF, 133(1-2), 31–47.
- Bergström, S. M., Calner, M., Lehnert, O. and Noor, A. 2011b. A new upper Middle Ordovician-Lower Silurian drillcore standard succession from Borenshult in Östergötland, southern Sweden. 1. Stratigraphic review with regional comparisons. GFF, 133, 149–171.
- Bergström, S. M., Lehnert, O., Calner, M. and Joachimski, M. M. 2012. A new upper Middle Ordovician-Lower Silurian drillcore, southern Sweden: 2. Significance of δ^{13} C chemostratigraphy. GFF, 134(1), 39–63.
- Bergström S. M., Eriksson, S. A. Y., Ahlberg, P. and Schmitz, B. 2013. Hirnantian (latest Ordovician) δ^{13} C chemostratigraphy in southern Sweden and globally: a refined integration with the graptolite and conodont zone successions. GFF, 136(2), 355–386.
- Boomer, I., Horne, D. J. and Slipper, I. J. 2003. The use of ostracods in palaeoenvironmental studies, or what can you do with an ostracod shell? Palaeontological Society Papers, 9, 153–179.
- Branson, E. B. and Branson, C. C. 1947. Lower Silurian Conodonts from Kentucky. Journal of Paleontology 21(6), 549–556.
- Brenchley, J. P., Marshall, J. D., Carden, G. A. F., Robertson, D. B. R., Long, D. G. F., Meidla, T., Hints, L. and Anderson, T. F. 1994. Bathymetric and isotopic evidence for a short-lived Late Ordovician glaciation in a greenhouse period. Geology, 22, 295–298.
- Brenchley, P. J., Carden, G. A., Hints, L., Kaljo, D., Marshall, J. D., Martma, T., Meidla, T. and Nõlvak, J. 2003. High-resolution stable isotope stratigraphy of Upper Ordovician sequences: Constraints on the timing of bioevents and environmental changes associated with mass extinction and glaciation. GSA Bulletin, 115(1), 89–104.

- Buggish, W., Joachimski, M. M., Lehnert, O., Bergström, S. M., Repetski, J. E. and Webers, G. F. 2010. Did intense volcanism trigger the first Late Ordovician icehouse? Geology, 38(4), 327–330.
- Clapham, M. E. 2011. Ordination Methods and the Evaluation of Ediacaran Communities. In: M. Laflamme, J. D. Schiffbauer and S. Q. Dornbos (Eds) Quantifying the Evolution of Early Life. Topics in Geobiology, 36, 3–21. Springer.
- Correa-Metrio, A., Dechnik, Y., Lozano-García, S. and Caballero, M. 2014. Detrended correspondence analysis: A useful tool to quantify ecological changes from fossil data sets. Boletín de la Sociedad Geológica Mexicana, 66(1), 135–143.
- Dalman, J. W. 1828. Uppställning och Beskrifning af de i Sverige funne Terebratuliter [Structure and Description of the Terebratulites found in Sweden]. Kongliga Svenska Vetenskapsakademien Handlingar for År 1827, 85–155, [in Swedish].
- Elles, G. L. and Wood, E. M. R. 1907. A monograph of British graptolites. Part 6. Monograph of the Palaeontographical Society 61(297), XCVII–CXX, 217–272.
- Finnegan, S., Bergmann, K., Eiler, J. M., Jones, D. S., Fike, A., Eisenman, I., Hughes, N. C., Tripati, A. K. and Fischer, W. W. 2011. The magnitude and duration of late Ordovician-Silurian glaciation. Science, 331, 903–906.
- Finney, S. C., Berry, W. B.N, Cooper, J. D., Ripperdan, R: L., Sweet, W. C., Jacobson, S. R., Soufiane, A., Achab, A. and Noble, P. J. 1999. Late Ordovician mass extinction: A new perspective from stratigraphic sections in central Nevada. Geology, 27(3), 215–218.
- Gailīte, L. K., Rybnikova, M. V. and Ulst, R. Ž. 1967. Stratigrafiya, fauna i usloviya obrazovaniya siluriyskikh porod Sredney Pribaltiki [Stratigraphy, fauna and conditions of formation of the Silurian rocks of the Central Baltic], R. Z. Ulst (Ed), 1–304. Riga, Zinatne, [in Russian].
- Gailīte, L. K. 1968. Paleontologicheskaya kharakteristika pogranichnykh otlozhenij ordovika i silura v Latvii [Paleontological characteristic of adjacent Ordovician and Silurian deposits in Latvia]. In: Grigelis, A. (Ed), Stratigraphy of the Baltic Lower Paleozoic and its correlation with other areas, 130–138, Mintis, Vilnius, [in Russian, with English summary].
- Gailīte, L. 1970. Ostrakody kuldigskogo pachki verkhnego ordovika Latvii [Ostracodes from the Kuldiga member of the Upper Ordovician of Latvia]. In: A. Grigelis (Ed) Palaeontology and stratigraphy of the Baltic and Byelorussia. Number II, 19–31, Mintis, Vilnius, [in Russian, with English summary].
- Gailīte, L. 1975. Novyy vid ostrakod iz verkhnego ordovika Latvii [New species of ostracoda from Upper Ordovician of Latvia]. In: A. A. Grigelis (Ed) The Fauna and Stratigraphy of Paleozoic and Mesozoic of Baltic and Byelorussia, 45–58, Mintis, Vilnius, [in Russian].
- Gailīte, L. 1991. *Bipunctoprimitia*, a new name for the ostracode genus *Paraprimitia* Gailite, 1967. Proceedings of the Estonian Academy of Sciences, Geology, 40(4), 173.
- Gorjan, P, Kaiho, K., Fike, D. A. and Xu, C. Carbon- and sulfur-isotope geochemistry of the Hirnantian (Late Ordovician) Wangjiawan (Riverside) section, South China: Global correlation and environmental event interpretation. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 337–338, 14–22.
- Hallam, A. and Wignall, P. B. 1997. Latest Ordovician extinctions: one disaster after another. In: A. Hallam and P. B. Wignall (Eds), Mass Extinctions and Their Aftermath, 39–61.
- Hammarlund, E. U., Dahl, T. W., Harper, D. A. T., Bond, D. P. G., Nielsen, A. T., Bjerrum, C. J., Schovsbo, N. H., Schönlaub, H. P., Zalasiewicz, J. A. and Canfield, D. E. 2012.

A sulfidic driver for the end-Ordovician mass extinction. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 331–332, 128–139.

- Hammer, Ø. and Harper D. A. T. 2005. Paleontological Data Analysis, Blackwell Publishing, 344 pp.
- Hammer, Ø., Harper D. A. T. and Ryan, P. D. 2001. PAST: Paleontological Statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontologica Electronica, 4(1), 9.
- Harper, D. A. T., Hammarlund, E. U. and Rasmussen, C. M. Ø. 2014. End Ordovician extinctions: A coincidence of causes. Gondwana Research, 25, 1294–1307.
- Harris, M. T., Sheehan, P. M., Ainsaar, L., Hints, L., Männik, P., Nõlvak, J. and Rubel, M. 2004. Upper Ordovician sequences of western Estonia. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 210, 135–148.
- Herrmann, A. D., Macleod, K. G. and Leslie, S. A. 2011. Did a volcanic mega-eruption cause global cooling during the late Ordovician? Palaios, 25, 831–836.
- Hints, L. and Meidla, T. 1997a. Pirgu Stage. In: A. Raukas and A. Teedumäe (Eds), Geology and Mineral Resources of Estonia, 82–85. Estonian Academy Publishers, Tallinn.
- Hints, L. and Meidla, T. 1997b. Porkuni Stage. In: A. Raukas and A. Teedumäe (Eds), Geology and Mineral Resources of Estonia, 85–88. Estonian Academy Publishers, Tallinn.
- Jaanusson, V. 1966. Ordovician ostracodes with supravelar antra. The Bulletin of the Geological Institutions of Uppsala, 43(66), 1–30.
- Jones, T.R. 1887a. Notes on the Palaeozoic bivalved Entomostraca. No. XXIII. On some Silurian genera and species. Annals and Magazine of Natural History, 5(19), 177–195.
- Jones, D. S., Martini, A. M., Fike, D. A. and Kaiho, K. 2017. A volcanic trigger for the Late Ordovician mass extinction? Mercury data from south China and Laurentia. Geology, 45(7), 631–634.
- Kaljo, D., Hints, L., Martma, T. and Nõlvak, J. 2001. Carbon isotope stratigraphy in the latest Ordovician of Estonia. Chemical Geology, 175, 49–59.
- Kaljo, D., Martma, T., Männik, P. and Viira, V. 2003. Implications of Gondwana glaciations in the Baltic late Ordovician and Silurian and a carbon isotopic test of environmental cyclicity. Bulletin de la Societe Geologique de France, 174(1), 59–66.
- Kaljo, D., Hints, L., Männik, P. and Nõlvak, P. 2008. The succession of Hirnantian events based on data from Baltica: brachiopods, chitinozoans, conodonts, and carbon isotopes. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 57(4), 197–218.
- Kaljo, D., Hints, L., Hints, O., Männik, P., Martma, T. and Nõlvak, P. 2011. Katian prelude to the Hirnantian (Late Ordovician) mass extinction: a Baltic perspective. Geological Journal, 46(4), 64–477.
- Kaljo, D., Hints, L., Martma, T. and Nõlvak, J. 2017. A multiproxy study of the Puhmu core section (Estonia, Upper Ordovician): consequences for stratigraphy and environmental interpretation. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 2017, 66(2), 77–92.
- Koren, T., Ahlberg, P. and Nielsen, A. T. 2003. The post-persculptus and pre-ascensus graptolite fauna in Scania, south-western Sweden: Ordovician or Silurian? In: G. Ortega and G. F. Acenolaza (Eds), Proceeding of the 7th International Graptolite Conference & Field Meeting of the Subcommission on Silurian Stratigraphy. Instituto Superior de Correlacion Geologica (INSUGEO), Tucuma'n, Serie Correlacion Geologica, 18, 133–138.
- Kump, L. R., Arthur, M. A., Patzkowsky. M. E., Gibbs, M. T., Pinkus, D. S. and Sheehan, P. M. 1999. A weathering hypothesis for glaciation at high atmospheric

pCO₂ during the Late Ordovician. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeo-ecology, 152, 173–187.

- Lajblová, K. and Kraft, P. 2018. Middle Katian–lowermost Hirnantian ostracods from the Prague Basin (Czech Republic): Diversity responses to the climatic changes. Bulletin of Geosciences 93(2), 205–245. Czech Geological Survey, Prague.
- LaPorte, D. F., Holmden, C., Patterson, W. P., Loxton, J. D., Melchin, M. J., Michell, C. E., Finney, S. C. and Sheets, H. D. 2009. Local and global perspectives on carbon and nitrogen cycling during the Hirnantian glaciation. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 276, 182–195.
- Lenton, T. M., Crouch, M., Johnson, M., Pires, N. and Dolan, L. 2012. First plants cooled the Ordovician. Nature Geoscience, 5, 86–89.
- Levinson, S. A., 1951. Thin sections of Paleozoic Ostracoda and their bearing on taxonomy and morphology. Journal of Paleontology, 25, 553–560.
- Long, J. A., Large, R. R., Lee, M. S. Y., Michael, J. B., Danyushevsky, L. V., Chiappe, L. M., Halpin, J. A., Cantrill, D. and Lottermoser, B. 2015. Severe selenium depletion in the Phanerozoic oceans as a factor in three global mass extinction events. Gondwana Research, 36, 209–218.
- Männik, P. 2014. The Silurian System in Estonia. In: H. Bauert, O. Hints, T. Meidla and P. Männik (Eds), 4th Annual Meeting of IGCP 591, Estonia, 10–19 June 2014. Abstracts and Field Guide, 123–128. University of Tartu, Tartu.
- Marshall, J. D. and Middleton, P. D. 1990. Changes in marine isotopic composition and the late Ordovician glaciation. Journal of the Geological Society, 147, 1–4.
- Mauviel, A. and Desrochers, A. 2016. A high-resolution, continuous δ^{13} C record spanning the Ordovician–Silurian boundary on Anticosti Island, eastern Canada. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, 53, 795–801.
- McCoy, F. 1851. A systematic description of the British Palaeozoic fossils in the geological Museum of the University of Cambridge. In: A. Sedgwick and F. McCoy 1851–1857. London and Cambridge, 611 pp.
- Meidla, T. 1983. Die Ostrakoden aus den Grenzschichten der Vormsi- und Pirgu-Stufen Westestlands. [Ostrakody pogranichnykh sloyev vormsiskogo i pirguskogo gorizontov v Zapadnoy Estonii.] In: H. Kask and M. Sarv (Eds), Eesti NSV Teaduste Akadeemia Toimetised, Geoloogia, 32(2), 53–59. Perioodika, Tallinn.
- Meidla, T. 1996a. Latest Ordovician ostracodes of Baltoscandia. In: S. Stouge (Ed), WOGOGOB 94 Symposium: Working Group of Ordovician Geology of Baltoscandia, Bornholm, Denmark. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Reports, 98, 65–71, Copenhagen.
- Meidla, T. 1996b. Late Ordovician ostracodes of Estonia. Fossilia Baltica, 2. Tartu University Press, Tartu. 222 pp.
- Meidla, T., 2007. Ostracods from the Upper Ordovician Borenshult fauna, Sweden. GFF, 129, 123–132.
- Meidla, T., Ainsaar, L. and Truuver, K. 2011. Ostracods in Baltoscandia through the Hirnantian crises. In: J. C. Gutiérrez-Marco, I. Rábano and D. García-Bellido (Eds), Ordovician of the World, 353–357.
- Meidla, T., Tinn, O., Salas, M. J., Williams, M., Siveter, D., Vandenbroucke, T. R. A. and Sabbe, K. 2013. Biogeographical patterns of Ordovician ostracods. In: D. A. T. Harper and T. Servais (Eds), Early Palaeozoic Biogeography and Palaeogeography. Geological Society, London, Memoirs, 38, 337–354.
- Meidla, T., Ainsaar, L. and Hints, O. 2014. The Ordovician System in Estonia. In: H. Bauert, O. Hints, T. Meidla and P. Männik (Eds), 4th Annual Meeting of IGCP

591, Estonia, 10–19 June 2014. Abstracts and Field Guide, 116–122. University of Tartu, Tartu.

- Modliński, Z. and Podhalańska, T. 2010. Outline of the lithology and depositional features of the lower Paleozoic strata in the Polish part of the Baltic region. Geological Quarterly, 54(2), 109–121.
- Modliński Z., Nõlvak, J. and Szymański, B. 2002. Zespoły Chitinozoa serii ordowickiej otworu Kętrzyn IG 1 (NE Polska). [Chitinozoan biozonation of the Ordovician succession in the borehole Kętrzyn IG1 (NE Poland)]. Przegląd Geologiczny, 50(12), 1149–1158, [in Polish, with English summary].
- Morris, J. L., Puttic, M. N., Clark, J. W., Edwards, D., Kenrick, P., Pressel, S., Wellman, C. H., Yang, Z., Schneider, H. and Donoghue, P. C. J. 2018. The timescale of early land plant evolution. PNAS, 115(10), E2274–E2283
- Neckaja, A. I. 1966. Ostrakody ordovika i silura SSSR (semejstva Schmidtellidae, Rectellidae, Longisculidae i nekotorye novye vidy drugih semejstv). [Ostracodes of the Ordovician and Silurian of the USSR (families Schmidtellidae, Rectellidae, Longisculidae and some new species from other families], Trudy VNIGRI, 251, 1– 103. Nedra, [in Russian].
- Nestor, H. 1997. Silurian. In: A. Raukas, A. Teedumäe (Eds), Geology and Mineral Resources of Estonia, 89–93. Estonian Academy Publishers.
- Nõlvak, J. 2008. Distribution of Ordovician chitinozoans. In: D. Kaljo and J. Plado (Eds), Estonian Geological Sections. Bulletin 9. Männamaa (F-367) drill core, 13–18. Tallinn, Geological Survey of Estonia.
- Olempska, E. 2012. Morphology and affinities of Eridostracina: Palaeozoic ostracods with moult retention. Hydrobiologia, 688, 139–165.
- Paškevičius, J. 1972. Biostratigrafiya, korrelyatsiya i graptolity ordovikskikh i silurijskikh otlozhenij Yuzhnoy Pribaltiki [Biostratigraphy, correlation and graptolites of Ordovician and Silurian deposits of Southern Baltics.] Dissertaciya na soiskanie uchenoj stepeni doktora geologo-mineralogicheskikh nauk [Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Geological and Mineralogical Sciences]. Vilnius University, part 1, 399 p.; part 2, 351 p.; part 3, 47 plates [in Russian].
- Pollock, C. A., Rexroad, C. B. and Nicoll, R. S. 1970. Lower Silurian Conodonts from Northern Michigan and Ontario. Journal of Paleontology, 44(4), 743–764.
- Pranskevičius, A. 1971. K paleontologicheskoy kharakteristike nizhnego silura Yuzhnoy Pribaltiki (dannyye izucheniya ostrakod). [To the paleontological characteristic of the Lower Silurian of the Southern Baltic area (data of the ostracoda study)]. In: A. A. Grigelis (Ed), Paleontologiya i stratigrafiya Pribaltiki i Belorussii, Sbornik III. [Palaeontology and stratigraphy of the Baltic and the Byelorussia, No 3], 61–70, Mintis, Vilnius, [in Russian].
- Pranskevičius, A. 1972. Ostrakody Silura yuzhnoj Pribaltiki. [South Baltic Silurian Ostracoda.] Transactions of the Lithuanian Scientific-Research Geological Survey Institute, 15, 1–280, [in Russian].
- Rasmussen, C. M. Ø. and Harper, D. A. T. 2011. Did the amalgamation of continents drive the end Ordovician mass extinctions? Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 311, 48–62.
- Reily, L., Adôrno, R. R., do Carmo, D. A., Salas, M. J., Cardoso da Silvia Rodrigues, L., Denezine, M. and Zabini, C. 2018. Tridimensional ostracoda assemblage from Vila Maria Formation, Ordovician/Silurian, Paraná Basin Brazil. In: N., de Araújo Palermo, H. I. Jr., Machado, F. B., Corval, A., S. de Castro Valente and P. F. Dal' Bó,

(Eds). Anais do 49º Congresso Brasileiro de Geologia, 20 a 24 de agosto de 2018 - Rio de Janeiro, 1365.

- Rodriguez-Lazaro, J. and Ruiz-Muńoz, F. 2012. Chapter 1 A General Introduction to Ostracods: Morphology, Distribution, Fossil Record and Applications. In: D. J. Horne, J. A. Holmes, J. Rodriguez-Lazaro and F. A. Viehberg (Eds), Ostracoda as Proxies for Quaternary Climate Change. Developments in Quaternary Sciences, 17, 1–14. Elsevier.
- Rong, J., Jin, J., Zhan, R. and Bergström, J. 2008. The earliest known *Stegerhynchus* (Rhynchonellida, Brachiopoda) from the Hirnantian strata (uppermost Ordovician) at Borenshult, Östergötland, Sweden. GFF, 130(1), 21–30.
- Rosenau, N. A., Herrmann, A. D. and Leslie, S. A. 2012. Conodont apatite δ^{18} O values from a platform margin setting, Oklahoma, USA: Implications for initiation of Late Ordovician icehouse conditions. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoeclogy, 315–316, 172–180.
- Saltzman, M. R. and Young, A. J. 2005. Long-lived glaciation in the Late Ordovician? Isotopic and sequence-stratigraphic evidence from western Laurentia. Geology, 33, 109–112.
- Schallreuter, R. and Krůta, M. 1990. On *Scanipisthia rectangularis* (Troedsson). Stereo-Atlas of Ostracod Shells, 17, 89–92.
- Schallreuter, R. 1968. Zur Taxonomie und Phylogenie der Eridostraca (Ostracoda). Paläontologische Zeitschrift 42, 105–119, [in German.]
- Schallreuter, R. 1990. Ordovizische Ostrakoden und Seeigel der Karnischen Alpen und ihre Beziehungen zu Böhmen und Baltoskandien. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie. Monatshefte, 2, 120–128.
- Schmitz, B. and Bergström, S. M. 2007. Chemostratigraphy in the Swedish Upper Ordovician: Regional significance of the Hirnantian δ^{13} C excursion (HICE) in the Boda Limestone of the Siljan region. GFF, 129(2), 133–140.
- Sell, B., Ainsaar, L. and Leslie, S. 2013. Precise timing of the Late Ordovician (Sandbian) super-eruptions and associated environmental, biological, and climatological events. Journal of the Geological Society, 170, 711–714.
- Sidaravičiene, N. 1975. Novyye ostrakody ordovika Yuzhnoi Pribaltiki [New Ordovician ostracoda of South Baltic area]. In: A. A. Grigelis (Ed), The Fauna and Stratigraphy of Paleozoic and Mesozoic of Baltic and Byelorussia, 21–43, Vilnius, Mintis, [in Russian, with summary in English].
- Sidaravičiene, N. 1992. Ostrakody ordovika Litvy. [Ordovician ostracodes of Lithuania], 1–252, Vilnius, [in Russian].
- Sidaravičiene, N. 1996. Biostratigrafiya ordovikskikh ostrakod Litvy. [Lithuanian Ordovician ostracod biostratigraphy]. Geological Institute, Vilnius. 81 pp., [in Russian].
- Smith, A. J. and Delorme, L. D. 2009. Ostracoda. In: J. H. Thorp and A. P. Covich (Eds) Ecology and Classification of North American Freshwater Invertebrates. Third edition, 725–771. Elsevier.
- Smith, A. J., Horne, D. J., Martens, K. and Schön, I. 2015. Chapter 30 Class Ostracoda. In: J. H. Thorp and D. C. Rogers (Eds), Thorp and Covich's Freshwater Invertebrates. Fourth Edition, 757–780. Elsevier.
- Suuroja, S. and Suuroja, K. 2006. Kärdla Impact (Hiiumaa Island, Estonia) Ejecta Blanket and Environmental Disturbances. In: C. Cockell, I. Gilmour and C. Koeberl (Eds), Biological Processes Associated with Impact Events. Impact Studies, 309–333. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

- Sztejn, J. 1985. Ordovician ostracods in North-Eastern Poland. Biuletyn Instytutu Geologicznego, 350, 53–89, [in Polish, with English summary].
- Sztejn, J. 1989. Micropalaeontological stratigraphy of Ordovician in the Lublin area and the western part of Podlasie region. Biuletyn Państwowego Instytutu Geologicznego, 363, 69–95, [in Polish, with English summary].
- Tinn, O. and Meidla, T. 2004. Phylogenetic relationships of Early–Middle Ordovician ostracods of Baltoscandia. Palaeontology, 47(2), 199–221.
- Tinn, O., Meidla, T. and Ainsaar, L. 2006. Arenig (Middle Ordovician) ostracods from Baltoscandia: Fauna, assemblages and biofacies. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 241, 492–514.
- Torsvik, T. and Cocks, L. 2017. Ordovician. In: T. Torsvik and L. Cocks (Eds), Earth History and Palaeogeography, 101–123. Cambridge University Press.
- Troedsson, G. T. 1918. Om Skånes brachiopodskiffer. Lunds Universitet Årsskrift, N. F. (2), 15(3), 110 pp.
- Trotter, J. A., Williams, I. S., Barnes, C. R., Lécuyer, C. and Nicoll, R. S. 2008. Did cooling oceans trigger Ordovician biodiversification? Evidence from conodont thermometry. Science, 321, 550–554.
- Truuver, K. and Meidla, T. 2015. Hirnantian deep-water refuge for warm-water ostracods in Baltoscandia. Geological Quarterly, 59(4), 738–749.
- Turner, B. R., Armstrong, H. A. and Holt, P. 2011. Visions of ice sheets in the early Ordovician greenhouse world: Evidence from the Peninsula Formation, Cape Peninsula, South Africa. Sedimentary Geology, 236, 226–238.
- Ulst, R. Zh., Gailīte, L. K. and Yakovleva, V. I. 1982. Ordovik Latvii [The Ordovician of Latvia]. Zinatne, 94 pp., [in Russian].
- Vandenbroucke, T. R. A., Armstrong, H. A., Williams, M., Paris, F., Sabbe, K., Zalasiewicz, J. A., Nõlvak, J. and Verniers, J. 2010. Epipelagic chitinozoan biotopes map a steep latitudinal temperature gradient for earliest Late Ordovician seas: Implications for a cooling Late Ordovician climate. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 249, 202–219.
- Vandenbroucke T.R.A., Emsbo, P., Munnecke, A., Nuns, N., Duponchel, L., Lepot, K., Quijada, M., Paris, F., Servais, T. and Kiessling, W. 2015. Metal-induced malformations in early Palaeozoic plancton are harbingers of mass extinction. Nature Communications, 6, 1–7.
- Vannier, J. M. C., Siveter, D. J. and Schallreuter, R. E. L. 1989. The composition and palaeogeographical significance of the Ordovician ostracode faunas of Southern Britain, Baltoscandia, and Ibero-Armorica. Palaeontology, 32(1), 163–222.
- Wang, G., Zhan, R. and Percival, I. G. 2019. The end-Ordovician mass extinction: A single-pulse event? Earth-Science Reviews, 192, 15–33.
- Wilde, P. and Berry, W. B. N., 1984. Destabilization of the oceanic density structure and its significance to marine "extinction" events. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 48, 143–162.
- Williams, M., Siveter, D. J., Salas, M. J., Vannier, J., Popov, L. E. and Pour, M. G. 2008. The earliest ostracods: the geological evidence. Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments, 88(1), 11–21.
- Williams, M., Perrier, V., Bennett, C., Hearing, T., Stocker, C. and Harvey, T. 2015. Ostracods: the ultimate survivors. Geology Today, 31(5), 193–200.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Ordoviitsiumi ja Siluri piirikihtide ostrakoodid

Hilis-Ordoviitsiumis, Hirnanti eal aset leinud Hirnanti jäätumise ajal katsid lõunapoolkeral asuvat Gondwana hiidmandrit ulatuslikud jääkilbid ja maailmamere veetase langes ligikaudu 100 m. Hirnanti jääajaga langes kokku esimene viiest suurimast väljasuremisest Fanerosoikumis, nn. Hirnanti (või Ordoviitsiumi ajastu lõpu) väljasuremissündmus. Nende sündmuste uurimisega on Eestis tegeldud mitu viimast aastakümmet. On uuritud Ülem-Ordoviitsiumi ostrakoodikoosluste koosseisu ja dünaamikat (e.g. Meidla, 1996b, 2007; Meidla, jt. 2013; Perrier it. 2012; artiklid I–IV) ning δ^{13} C (süsiniku stabiilsete isotoopide¹³C/¹²C suhte) väärtuste dünaamikat (e.g. Ainsaar jt. 2010, 2015; Bauert jt., 2014) Eestis ja lähiümbruses. Siiski on mõnede Baltoskandia piirkondade (Leedu, Lõuna-Rootsi, Põhja-Poola) ostrakoodikooslusi siiani ebapiisavalt uuritud, samuti on tänapäevaste uurimismeetoditega ning uusi andmeid lisades võimalik varem publitseeritud andmestikku oluliselt täpsustada. Käesolev doktoritöö käsitleb taksonoomilisi muutusi Baltoskandia paleobasseini (BPB) ostrakoodikooslustes Hirnanti jääajal ning sellele vahetult eelneval ja järgneval perioodil. Töö eesmärgiks oli analüüsida BPB ostrakoodikoosluste taksonoomilist koosseisu ja dünaamikat Katy ea lõpust kuni Siluri alguseni ning nende tulemuste alusel kontrollida Hirnanti väljasuremissündmuse varasema alguse hüpoteesi, täiendada ning täpsustada Hirnanti lademe stratigraafiat Leedus, Lõuna-Rootsis ja Põhja-Poolas, analüüsida ostrakoodikoosluste muutuste ja δ^{13} C väärtuste muutuste vahelisi seoseid ning Ordoviitsiumi-Siluri piiri asendi muutmise vajadust Baltoskandias.

Ostrakoodid ehk karpvähilised on väikesed (<2 mm) lülijalgsed, kes ilmusid Vara-Ordoviitsiumis (Tinn ja Meidla, 2004; Meidla jt. 2013, Rodriguez-Lazaro ja Ruiz-Muńoz, 2012). Tõenäoliselt olid varased ostrakoodid elukeskkonna suhtes generalistid (Williams jt. 2008), kuid juba varaseks Kesk-Ordoviitsiumiks arenes neil välja endemism (Meidla jt. 2013). Pikka aega olid ostrakoodid vaid mereasukad ning esimesed maismaalisi veekogusid asustavad liigid ilmusid alles Karboni ajastul (Smith jt. 2015). Tänapäeval leidub ostrakoode kõikvõimalikes veelistes keskkondades alates meresügavustest kuni väikeste tiikideni.

Käesolevas töös kasutatud ostrakoodimaterjal pärineb Eesti, Läti, Leedu, Lõuna-Rootsi ja Kirde-Poola Poola 16 puuraugust ja 7 paljandist. Varem publitseeritud ostrakoodiandmestikku on täiendatud uute andmetega Lõuna-Rootsist, Põhja-Poolast ja Lääne-Leedust ning see andis võimaluse töö geograafilist haaret varasemate uuringutega võrreldes laiendada.

Lõuna-Rootsis oli *Harpabollia harparum*'i ostrakoodikooslus varem kirjeldatud Borenshulti leiukohast, kuid kuna see ostrakoodikollektsioon koguti lahtisest materjalist, ei olnud võimalik andmeid kasutada statistilise analüüsi eesmärgil ning see ei sobinud korreleerimiseks teiste läbilõigete ning süsiniku stabiilsete isotoopide andmestikuga. Sellega seoses valiti uurimiseks Råssnäsuddeni läbilõige, et saada andmeid *H. harparum*'i ostrakoodikoosluse iseloomustamiseks Lõuna-Rootsis Östergötlandi piirkonnas. Samal põhjusel valiti uurimise objektiks Kętrzyn IG 1 läbilõige Põhja-Poolast, saamaks andmeid piirkonna ostrakoodikoosluste liigilise koosseisu täpsustamiseks ning Hirnanti lademe alumise piiri usaldusväärsemaks määramiseks. Paroveja-9 läbilõige kaasati töösse selleks, et täiendada ja täpsustada ostrakoodikoosluste taksonoomilist koosseisu ja levikuandmestikku Lääne-Leedus. Uutest ja Eesti ning Läti alade varempublitseeritud andmetest koostati kogu BPB ala hõlmav detailne ostrakoodide andmemaatriks.

Töös kasutatud kitiinikute ja graptoliitide leiuandmestik pärineb varem avaldatud teadustöödest.

Stratigraafilise korrelatsiooni hõlbustamiseks on töös kasutatud süsiniku stabiilsete isotoopide suhte (δ^{13} C) muutuse kõverate interpretatsioonil põhinevaid isotooptsoone (Ainsaar jt., 2010). Stabiilse süsiniku isotoopandmestik koguti peamiselt avaldatud töödest, kuid Råssnäsudden'i läbilõike isotoopandmestik koguti ja analüüsiti käesoleva töö raames. Kuna on teada, et liustike teke mõjutab kaudselt ka süsinikuringlust ning on empiiriliselt täheldatud head korrelatsiooni kogukivimi süsiniku ja hapniku isotoopsuhte kõverate vahel, on isotooptsoonid hea abimaterjal ostrakoodikoosluste leviku analüüsimiseks vajaliku stratigraafilise tausta loomisel kihtides, kus muid biostratigraafilisi markereid ei ole alati piisaval hulgal. Ainsaar jt. (2010) on loonud Kesk- ja Ülem-Ordoviitsiumi karbonaatsete kihtide δ^{13} C väärtuste muutusi kirjeldava kemostratigraafilise liigestuse, mis koosneb 17 isotooptsoonist BC1-BC17 (BC = Baltic Carbon). Käesolev töö kajastab sündmusi intervallis, mis vastab isotooptsoonidele BC13-BC17 ja viimasest kõrgemal. Jäätumiseelsed kihid vastavad isotooptsoonidele BC13-BC15, kusjuures tsoonid BC14 ja BC15 puuduvad enamikus Põhja-Eesti läbilõigetes settelünga tõttu (Ainsaar jt., 2010). Isotooptsoon BC16 vastab Hirnanti jäätumise algusele ning sama sündmus on ka Hirnanti lademe alumise piiri täiendav marker. Põhja-Eesti läbilõigetes on sellest isotooptsoonist alles vaid alumine osa, mis viitab settimise lakkamisele Põhja-Eestit Ordoviitsiumi ajastu lõpul katnud rannikumeres Hirnanti ea algupoolel. Paleobasseini sügavamat osa esindavas Liivi basseinis on läbilõigetes enamasti olemas nii jäätumiseelsele perioodile vastavad kihid (isotooptsoonid BC13-BC15) kui ka jäätumisele vastavad kihid (isotooptsoonid BC16 ja BC17; Ainsaar jt. 2010). Isotooptsooni BC17 ülemine piir on paigutatud samale tasemele põiksusega, mis varasemates töödes markeerib Ordoviitsiumi-Siluri (O-S) piiri (Ainsaar jt. 2010). Viimase 10 aasta uuringud on näidanud, et δ^{13} C väärtused ei ole traditsioonilisel O-S piiril veel jäätumiseelsele tasemele jõudnud ja isotoopsuhte langus jätkub ka sellest piirist kõrgemal (nt. Ainsaar jt. 2010, 2015; Meidla jt. 2011, 2021; Bauert jt. 2014).

Hilis-Ordoviitsiumi ajastiku soe lähistroopiline BPB oli rikkalike ostrakoodikoosluste arenguks väga soodne keskkond. Katy ea teises pooles asustas paleomere eri piirkondi rikkalik ostrakoodikooslus, kus leidus liike kaheksast erinevast alamseltsist: Palaeocopa, Binodicopa, Podocopa, Eridostraca, Cytherelliformes, Leiocopa, Cypridocopa ja Paraparchitocopa. Selle madalaveelist rannikulähedast osa, Põhja-Eesti šelfimerd asustas Katy eal ostrakoodikooslus, mida iseloomustab tugev podokopiidide ülekaal (Meidla, 1996a). Lähedase koosseisuga kooslus asustas tõenäoliselt ka madalaveelist Leedu šelfimerd. Balti Paleobasseini sügavamat osa, Liivi basseini, asustas liigirikas soojaveelise mudalis-karbonaatse faatsiese kooslus, kus domineerisid paleokopiidid. Hirnanti jääaeg ja suur väljasuremissündmus mõjutasid ostrakoodikooslusi märkimisväärselt. Põhja-Eestis on säilinud vaid Hirnanti lademe alumised kihid. Siinse šelfimere podokopiidikooslus muutus Hirnanti ea alguseks märgatavalt vaesemaks. Kuna seda kooslust kuskilt mujalt kirjeldatud ei ole, suri see tõenäoliselt jääaja edenedes ning veetaseme langedes välja. Paleomere sügavamas osas, Liivi basseinis, toimus ostrakoodikooslustes silmatorkav muutus. Soojaveeline paleokopiididerikas kooslus kadus ja vabaks jäänud elupaigad asustas uus kooslus, kus domineerisid ebastabiilsete keskkonnatingimustega kohastunud binodikopiidid. Dominantse liigi, *Harpabollia harparum*'i järgi on see kooslus endale ka nime saanud (Meidla, 2007). *H. harparum*'i ostrakoodikoosluse tüüpilisi esindajaid on leitud ka teistelt paleokontinentidelt, täpsemalt mitmest Gondwana hiidmandri piirkondadest (Lõuna-Ameerikast, Praha basseinist ja Karni Alpidest), mis viitab selle koosluse võimalikule kosmopoliitsusele.

Antud töö uuringuala läbilõigetes on peaaegu kõikjal näha soojaveelise koosluse vaesustumist Katy ea teises pooles ning kadumist Hirnanti ea algul. Ainsaks praegu teadaolevaks erandiks on Liivi basseini sügavamas osas Põhja-Poola Kętrzyn IG 1 läbilõikes Hirnanti kihtides kirjeldatud kooslus, kus lisaks *H. harparum*'i ostrakoodikoosluse iseloomulikele liikidele leidub ka mõningaid varasemale kooslusele iseloomulikke liike ning kus domineerib liik, mida kuskil mujal varem kirjeldatud ei ole. Tõenäoliselt sai selline spetsiifiline kooslus tekkida tänu paleokontinendi asukohale ekvaatori lähistel, kus jahenemise mõju ei avaldunud nii selgelt kui kõrgematel laiuskraadidel. Sellegipoolest võimaldas *H. harparum*i ostrakoodikoosluse tüüpiliste liikide ilmumine täpsustada Hirnanti lademe piiri asendit Kirde-Poolas ja paigutada see Kętrzyn IG 1 läbilõikes intervalli 1551.2– 1554.8 m.

Jääaja lõppedes toimus Balti paleobasseinis ostrakoodikoosluste vahetus. *H. harparum*'i ostrakoodikoosluse vahetas Juuru ea algul välja väga liigivaene podokopiidide kooslus. Seda kooslust on traditsiooniliselt peetud nn. taastumis-koosluseks (*recovery fauna*). Kuna aga taastumiskoosluse ilmumise hetkel selle koosseisus ühtegi uut, ainult Siluri ajastule iseloomulikku perekonda leitud ei ole ja kooslus on väga liigivaene, on tõenäoliselt pigem tegemist nn. jäänukkooslusega (*survival fauna*). Lõuna-Rootsis asuv Råssnäsuddeni läbilõikes puudub Hirnanti lade ning Katy lademel lasuvad suure tõenäosusega Rhuddani lademe ülemised kihid (Bergström ja Bergström, 1996). Nendest kihtidest kirjeldatud kooslus on oluliselt rikkalikum kui ülejäänud uuringualal kirjeldatud jääajajärgsed kooslused ning seda võis käsitleda taastumiskooslusena.

 δ^{13} C väärtused ei ole Läänemere regiooni idaosa läbilõigetes vanal, traditsioonilisel O–S piiril jäätumiseelsele tasemele jõudnud ning isotoopsuhte langus jätkub ka sellest piirist kõrgemal. *H. harparum*'i ostrakoodikoosluse kadumise tasemest kõrgemal ilmunud jäänukkooslusega kihid on seega Hilis-Ordoviitsiumi vanusega. O-S piiri asendit Läänemere regioonis ei saa määrata selle ostrakoodikoosluse ning sellega koos ilmuvate teiste fossiilirühmade liikide ilmumise alusel ning see paikneb läbilõikes märgatavalt kõrgemal. PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Karin Truuver
Date of birth:	20.08.1985
Address:	Estonian Museum of Natural History, Lai 29a, Tallinn,
	Estonia
Contact:	Phone +372 536 430 24
E-mail:	karin.truuver@gmail.com;
	Karin.Truuver@loodusmuuseum.ee

Education:

2009–2021	PhD Candidate in Geology; University of Tartu, Department
	of Geology (Supervisors: prof. Tõnu Meidla, PhD Oive Tinn)
2007–2009	MSc in Geology; University of Tartu, Department of Geology
	(Supervisor: PhD Oive Tinn)
2004–2007	BSc in Geology; University of Tartu, Department of Geology
	(Supervisor: PhD Oive Tinn)
1992–2004	Kadrina Secondary School

Professional employment:

2017–…	Curator, Estonian Museum of Natural History
2013-2017	specialist, University of Tartu, Department of Geology
August–Sep-	Data entry operator, University of Tartu, Department of
tember 2009	Geology
June 2007	Museum servant, University of Tartu, Museum of Geology

Research activity:

Research interests: palaeontology, ostracods, stratigraphy

Publications:

- **Truuver, K.**, Meidla, T., Radzevicius, S., Tinn, O. 2011. Ostracods in Swedish and Lithuanian Ordovician-Silurian boundary sections. In: E. Lukševičs, G. Stinkulis, J. Vasiļkova (Eds), The Eight Baltic Stratigraphical Conference. Abstracts. The Eight Baltic Stratigraphical Conference; Riga, Latvia; 28.-30. august 2011. 66–66.
- Meidla, T., Ainsaar, L., Truuver, K. 2011. Ostracods in Baltoscandia through the Hirnantian crises. In: J. C.Gutierrez-Marco, I. Rabano, D. Garcia-Bellido (Eds), Ordovician of the World. Madrid: Instituto Geologico y Minero de España. (Cuadernos del Museo Geominero; 14), 353–357.
- **Truuver, K**., Meidla, T. 2011. Ostracods in Ordovician-Silurian boundary section in Råssnäsudden, Sweden. In: M. Gross (Ed), Joannea Geologie und Paläontologie 11, 11: 7th European Ostracodologists' Meeting; Graz, Austria; 25.-28. July, 2011. Medienfabrik Graz, 205–206.

- **Truuver, K.**, Meidla, T. 2013. Extraordinary End-Ordovician ostracod association from Kętrzyn IG-1 borehole, NE Poland. In: A. McGowan (Ed), The Palaeontological Association Newsletter, 84: 57th Annual Meeting of the Palaeontological Association, University of Zurich, Switzerland, 13.-16. december, 2013. The Palaeontological Associaton, 57–57.
- **Truuver, K.**, Meidla, T., Ainsaar, L., Bergström J., Tinn, O., 2013. Stratigraphy of the Ordovician–Silurian boundary interval in Östergötland, Sweden, based on ostracod distribution and stable carbon isotopic data. GFF, 134, 4, 295–308.
- Meidla, T., Perrier, V., Tinn, O., Truuver, K. 2013. A survival game double extinction of Ostracoda in the latest Ordovician. 17th International Symposium on Ostracoda, Roma, Italy, July 23rd–26th, 2013. Abstract Book. Il Naturalista Siciliano, Serie 4(37), 229–230.
- Truuver, K., Meidla, T., 2015. A Hirnantian deep-water refuge for warm-water ostracods in Baltoscandia. Geological Quarterly, 59, 4, 738–749.
- **Truuver, K.**, Meidla, T., Tinn, O., 2021. End-Ordovician ostracod faunal dynamics in the Baltic Palaeobasin. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 2021, 70, 1, 51–69, DOI: https://doi.org/10.3176/earth.2021.02
- Meidla, T., **Truuver, K.**, Tinn, O., Ainsaar, L., 2020. Ostracods of the Ordovician-Silurian boundary beds: Jurmala core (Latvia) and its implications for Baltic stratigraphy. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 2020, 69, 4, 233–247.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Karin Truuver
Sünniaeg:	20.08.1985
Aadress:	Geoloogia osakond, Tartu Ülikool, Ravila 14a, 50411, Tartu,
	Eesti
Telefon:	+372 536 430 24
E-mail:	karin.truuver@gmail.com;
	Karin.Truuver@loodusmuuseum.ee
Haridus:	

2009-2021	Geoloogiadoktorant; Tartu Ülikool, Geoloogia osakond,
	(juhendajad: prof. Tõnu Meidla, PhD Oive Tinn)
2007–2009	Magistrikraad geoloogias; Tartu Ülikool, Geoloogia osakond
	(juhendaja: PhD Oive Tinn)
2004–2007	Bakalaureusekraad geoloogias; Tartu Ülikool, Geoloogia
	osakond (juhendaja PhD Oive Tinn)
1992-2004	Kadrina Keskkool

Teenistuskäik:

2017–…	kuraator, Eesti Loodusmuuseum
2013-2017	spetsialist, Tartu Ülikool, Geoloogia osakond
august-sep-	andmesisestaja, Tartu Ülikool, Tartu Ülikooli Muuseum
tember 2009	
juuni 2007	muuseumiteenija, Tartu Ülikooli Geoloogiamuuseum

Teadustegevus:

Teadustöö põhisuunad: paleontoloogia, ostrakoodid, stratigraafia

Publikatsioonid:

- **Truuver, K.**, Meidla, T., Radzevicius, S., Tinn, O. 2011. Ostracods in Swedish and Lithuanian Ordovician-Silurian boundary sections. In: E. Lukševičs, G. Stinkulis, J. Vasiļkova (Eds), The Eight Baltic Stratigraphical Conference. Abstracts. The Eight Baltic Stratigraphical Conference; Riga, Latvia; 28.-30. august 2011. 66–66.
- Meidla, T., Ainsaar, L., **Truuver, K.** 2011. Ostracods in Baltoscandia through the Hirnantian crises. In: J. C.Gutierrez-Marco, I. Rabano, D. Garcia-Bellido (Eds), Ordovician of the World. Madrid: Instituto Geologico y Minero de España. (Cuadernos del Museo Geominero; 14), 353–357.
- **Truuver, K**., Meidla, T. 2011. Ostracods in Ordovician-Silurian boundary section in Råssnäsudden, Sweden. In: M. Gross (Ed), Joannea Geologie und Paläontologie 11, 11: 7th European Ostracodologists' Meeting; Graz, Austria; 25.-28. July, 2011. Medienfabrik Graz, 205–206.

- **Truuver, K.**, Meidla, T. 2013. Extraordinary End-Ordovician ostracod association from Kętrzyn IG-1 borehole, NE Poland. In: A. McGowan (Ed), The Palaeontological Association Newsletter, 84: 57th Annual Meeting of the Palaeontological Association, University of Zurich, Switzerland, 13.-16. december, 2013. The Palaeontological Associaton, 57–57.
- **Truuver, K.**, Meidla, T., Ainsaar, L., Bergström J., Tinn, O., 2013. Stratigraphy of the Ordovician–Silurian boundary interval in Östergötland, Sweden, based on ostracod distribution and stable carbon isotopic data. GFF, 134, 4, 295–308.
- Meidla, T., Perrier, V., Tinn, O., Truuver, K. 2013. A survival game double extinction of Ostracoda in the latest Ordovician. 17th International Symposium on Ostracoda, Roma, Italy, July 23rd-26th, 2013. Abstract Book. II Naturalista Siciliano, Serie 4(37), 229–230.
- Truuver, K., Meidla, T., 2015. A Hirnantian deep-water refuge for warm-water ostracods in Baltoscandia. Geological Quarterly, 59, 4, 738–749.
- **Truuver, K.**, Meidla, T., Tinn, O., 2021. End-Ordovician ostracod faunal dynamics in the Baltic Palaeobasin. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 2021, 70, 1, 51–69, DOI: https://doi.org/10.3176/earth.2021.02
- Meidla, T., **Truuver, K.**, Tinn, O., Ainsaar, L., 2020. Ostracods of the Ordovician-Silurian boundary beds: Jurmala core (Latvia) and its implications for Baltic stratigraphy. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences, 2020, 69, 4, 233–247.

DISSERTATIONES GEOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Пээп Мянник.** Конодонты в верхнеордовикских и нижнесилурийских отложениях Эстонии. Тарту, 1992, 355 с.
- 2. Elvi Tavast. Fennoskandia kilbi lõunanõlva ja sellega piirnevate alade aluspõhja reljeef. Tartu, 1992, 357 lk.
- 3. Kaarel Orviku. Characterisation and evolution of Estonian seashores. Tartu, 1992, 19 p.
- 4. Анатолий Молодьков. ЭПР-анализ скелетного вещества моллюсков в хроностратиграфических исследованиях позднего кайнозоя. Тарту, 1992, 33 с.
- 5. Jaan Lutt. Late- and postglacial deposits on the Estonian shelf. Tartu, 1993, 31 p.
- 6. **Reet Karukäpp.** Gotiglatsiaalne morfogenees Skandinaavia mandriliustiku kagusektoris. Tartu, 1997, 181 p.
- 7. Argo Jõeleht. Geothermal studies of the Precambrian basement and Phanerozoic sedimentary cover in Estonia and Finland. Tartu, 1998, 125 p.
- 8. Jüri Nemliher. Mineralogy of Phanerozoic skeletal and sedimentary apatites: an XRD study. Tartu, 1999, 134 p.
- 9. Kalle Kirsimäe. Clay mineral diagenesis on the Lower Cambrian "Blue Clay" in the northern part of the Baltic Paleobasin. Tartu, 1999, 113 p.
- 10. **Jüri Plado.** Gravity and magnetic signatures of meteorite impact structures. Tartu, 2000, 87 p.
- 11. Olev Vinn. Morphogenesis and phylogenetic relationships of Clitambonitidines, Ordovician Brachiopods. Tartu, 2001, 127 p.
- 12. Leho Ainsaar. The middle Caradoc facies and faunal turnover in the late Ordovician Baltoscandian palaeobasin: sedimentological and carbon isotope aspects. Tartu, 2001, 109 p.
- 13. **Oive Tinn.** Early Ostracode evolution and Palaeoenvironmental application in the Ordovician of Baltoscandia. Tartu, 2002, 145 p.
- 14. **Maris Rattas.** Subglacial environments in the formation of drumlins The case of the Saadjärve Drumlin Field, Estonia. Tartu, 2004, 117 p.
- 15. Ene Kadastik. Upper-Pleistocene stratigraphy and deglaciation history in northwestern Estonia. Tartu, 2004, 129 p.
- Helje Pärnaste. Early Ordovician trilobites of suborder Cheirurina in Estonia and NW Russia: systematics, evolution and distribution. Tartu, 2004, 138 p.
- 17. Mari-Ann Mõtus. Silurian (Llandovery-Wenlock) tabulate corals of Baltoscandia: taxonomy, palaeoecology, distribution. Tartu, 2005, 167 p.
- 18. Alar Rosentau. Development of proglacial lakes in Estonia. Tartu, 2006, 114 p.
- 19. Evelin Verš. Development of impact-induced hydrothermal system at Kärdla impact structure. Tartu, 2006, 96 p.

- 20. Sigitas Radzevičius. The genus *Pristiograptus* in wenlock of East Baltic and the Holy Cross Mountains. Tartu, 2007, 133 p.
- 21. Andres Marandi. Natural chemical composition of groundwater as a basis for groundwater management in the Cambrian-Vendian aquifer system in Estonia. Tartu, 2007, 116 p.
- 22. **Eve Niinemets.** Vegetation and land-use history of the Haanja Heights (SE-Estonia) during the holocene. Tartu, 2008, 146 p.
- 23. Kalle-Mart Suuroja. Geology and lithology of the early palaeozoic marine impact stuctures Kärdla and Neugrund (Estonia). Tartu, 2008, 234 p.
- 24. **Rutt Hints.** Early diagenesis of Ordovician and Silurian Bentonites in the Northern Baltic Palaeobasin. Tartu, 2009, 90 p.
- 25. Peeter Somelar. Illitization of K-bentonites in the Baltic Basin. Tartu, 2009, 118 p.
- 26. **Ulla Preeden.** Remagnetizations in sedimentary rocks of Estonia and shear and fault zone rocks of southern Finland. Tartu, 2009, 121 p.
- 27. Kati Tänavsuu-Milkeviciene. Transgressive to regressive turnaround in the Middle Devonian Baltic Basin. Tartu, 2009, 106 p.
- 28. Valle Raidla. Chemical and isotope evolution of groundwater in the Cambrian-Vendian aquifer system in Estonia. Tartu, 2010, 134 p.
- 29. Kadri Sohar. Quaternary ostracods from Estonia and their application in palaeoenvironmental reconstruction. Tartu, 2010, 140 p.
- 30. Kristjan Urtson. Stepwise melt transport and accumulation: analogue and numerical modelling approach. Tartu, 2011, 83 p.
- 31. Marko Kohv. Landslides in clayey soils of western Estonia. Tartu, 2011, 116 p.
- 32. Nele Muttik. Post-impact alteration of impactites: Ries crater, Germany. Tartu, 2011, 78 p.
- 33. Annette Sedman. Strength and self-cementing properties of oil shale retorting wastes. Tartu, 2013, 82 p.
- 34. Arkady Tsyrulnikov. Complex seismo-acoustic and lithological study of the Lateglacial and postglacial sediments northern Gulf of Riga, eastern branch of the central Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2013, 102 p.
- 35. **Marge Uppin.** Geological sources and hydrochemistry of fluoride and boron in Silurian-Ordovician aquifer system. Tartu, 2013, 86 p.
- 36. **Peeter Talviste**. Temporal changes in weak natural and artificial soils influence on geotechnical characteristics. Tartu, 2014, 204 p.
- 37. Katrin Lasberg. Chronology of the Weichselian Glaciation in the southeastern sector of the Scandinavian Ice Sheet. Tartu, 2014, 100 p.
- 38. Sirle Liivamägi. Neoproterozoic Baltic paleosol: geology and paleoenvironmental interpretation. Tartu, 2015, 94 p.
- 39. Lauri Joosu. Petrography and the rare earth element composition of apatite in 2 Ga Onega and Pechenga basins, Russia: the environmental settings for phosphogenesis. Tartu, 2015, 139 p.
- 40. Liisa Lang. Baculate shell structure in Early Palaeozoic linguliform brachiopods. Tartu, 2015, 114 p.

- 41. **Päärn Paiste.** Geopolymeric potential of the Estonian oil shale processing waste. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 42. **Mikk Gaškov.** Stable isotope and fluid inclusion evidence of multistage fluidal activity in Baltic paleobasin: Silurian carbonate sequence in Kalana, Estonia. Tartu, 2017, 104 p.
- 43. Viirika Mastik. Silurian noncalcified macroscopic algal fossils from the Kalana *Lagerstätte*, Estonia. Tartu, 2018, 91 p.
- 44. Kairi Põldsaar. Soft-sediment deformation and gravity flow structures in the Lower Palaeozoic successions of the Baltic Basin. Tartu, 2019, 105 p.
- 45. **Timmu Kreitsmann.** Application of carbon isotope and rare earth elements as recorders of environmental conditions in the aftermath of the Paleoproterozoic Lomagundi-Jatuli Event. Tartu, 2020, 163 p.
- 46. **Triine Nirgi.** Holocene relative shore-level changes and geoarchaeology of the prehistoric sites in western Estonia. Tartu, 2020, 161 p.
- 47. **Kristjan Leben.** Long-term diagenetic transformation and carbon sequestration potential of Ca-rich oil shale ash waste deposit sediments. Tartu, 2021, 117 p.